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PART 1
Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” intended to qualify for the safe harbor
from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any statements in this report
about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not historical
facts and are forward-looking statements. This report contains forward-looking statements that are based on
management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. You can identify
these forward-looking statements by the use of words or phrases such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” and similar
expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. Among the factors that could cause actual results to
differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements are risks and uncertainties inherent in our
business including, without limitation, the company’s reliance on its web analytics services for the majority of its
revenue; blocking or erasing of cookies or limitations on our ability to use cookies; the company’s limited
experience with digital marketing applications beyond web analytics; the risks associated with integrating the
operations and products of Avive Corporation and Visual Sciences, LLC with those of the company; privacy
concerns and laws or other domestic or foreign regulations that may subject the company to litigation or limit our
ability to collect and use Internet user information; WebSideStory’s ability to defend itself against claims of patent
infringement alleged by NetRatings, Inc.; WebSideStory’s ongoing ability to protect its own intellectual property
rights and to avoid violating the intellectual property rights of third parties; the highly competitive markets in which
we operate that could make it difficult for WebSideStory to acquire and retain customers; the risk that
WebSideStory’s customers fail to renew their agreements; the company’s recent achievement of profitability and the
risk that it may not maintain its profitability; the risk that the company’s services may become obsolete in a market
with rapidly changing technology and industry standards; and other risks described below under the heading “Item
1A. Risk Factors.” Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements. Also, forward-looking statements represent our management’s beliefs and assumptions only as of the
date of this report.
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Any forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and,
as such, speak only as of the date made. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these
forward-looking statements publicly or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available.

Item 1. Business.
Overview

We are g leading provider of on-demand and in-house digital marketing and customer analysis solutions. Our
Active Marketing Suite™ consists of web analytics, website search, web content management, call center analytics
and messaging analysis. Our Active Marketing Suite will also include keyword bid management after its expected
release later in 2006. Customers use our services to understand how Internet users respond to website design and
content, online marketing campaigns and e-commerce offerings and to manage the content of their web pages and
make them searchable. Customers also use our solutions to analyze and understand customer interaction across
multiple delivery channels. As a result, our customers can inake more effective marketing and business decisions
and improve the merchandising, sales, support, design and functionality of their websites, thereby improving their
return on investment on marketing dollars spent.

We derive most of our revenue from HBX™, one of our web analytics applications. Web analytics refers to the
collection, analysis and reporting of information about Internet user activity. Our HBX application collects data
from web browsers, processes that data and delivers analytic reports of online behavior to our customers on demand,
allowing them to improve their websites and their online marketing campaigns.

We deliver our HBX, site search and web content management services on-demand over the Internet using
secure, proprietary and scalable applications and system architectures. This on-demand delivery model allows us to
concurrently serve a large number of customers and to efficiently distribute the workload across our networks of
servers. Our HBX technology is relatively straightforward to implement for most customers, which allows these



customers to avoid expensive, up-front hardware expenses and software license fees and to benefit from lower
administration costs compared to traditional software licensing. Our analytic reporting and data collection processes
can be integrated with third-party applications through our published application programming interfaces, or APIs,
and through standard-format data feeds.

Our services are offered by subscription agreements, typically with terms of one to three years. As of December
31, 2005, we had over 1,100 customers purchasing services from our Active Marketing Suite. Our direct sales force
sells our services to a broad range of organizations in many industries including sports and entertainment, news,
retail, financial services, travel, technology, manufacturing, telecommunications and education. Our top ten
customers by revenue in 2005 were Alistate Insurance Company, Best Buy Corporation, British Sky Broadcasting,
Cisco, Comcast.net, FedEx Corporate Services, Fox Sports.com, Nokia, PC World Communication and the Walt
Disney Internet Group. Walt Disney accounted for 14% of our total revenue in the year ended December 31, 2003;
however, none of our customers individually accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2004 or 2005.

Recent Acquisitions

In May 2005, we acquired Avivo Corporation, which was doing business as Atomz, a provider of on-demand
website search and web content management, in exchange for approximately $4.2 million in cash, 2,958,713 shares
of common stock and 164,434 options to purchase our common stock. We believe the acquisition of Avivo
advanced our strategy of offering a suite of integrated digital marketing applications, which may expand our market
opportunity. We are in the process of integrating Avivo’s website search and web content management applications,
which we refer to as WebSideStory Search and WebSideStory Publish, respectively, with our web analytics
application, HBX.

In February 2006, we acquired Visual Sciences, LLC, a provider of streaming data analysis and visualization
software and services, in exchange for $22.0 million in cash, 568,512 shares of common stock, warrants to purchase
1,082,923 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $18.4685 per share, and $20.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of senior notes. In connection with the transaction, we also granted 189,507 shares of restricted
common stock to certain employees of Visual Sciences, which vest on January 30, 2007, and non-qualified stock
options to purchase 350,000 shares of common stock to certain employees of Visual Sciences. We believe this
merger expands our addressable market by adding customer interaction analysis solutions for the call center, e-mail
and, in the future, other non-web delivery channels such as stores and branches. This merger also positions us to
address the web analytics needs of large enterprises that require in-house solutions.

Benefits of Our Services

With the addition of Visual Sciences, we offer a suite of on-demand and in-house digital marketing and customer
analysis solutions that allow our customers to measure and improve the performance of their online businesses and
marketing campaigns. We believe our services:

*  Provide Valuable Information to Improve Online and Offline Initiatives. Our analytic reports help our
customers understand how users navigate their websites. Our reporting services allow businesses to compare
the popularity and effectiveness of their content over time and across sections of their websites. These
reports can reveal which paths in a website lead to-the greatest number of sales and where bottlenecks occur
and enable rapid testing of the effects that changes in content and design have on browsing, shopping and
buying. In addition, our services allow our customers to develop offline marketing strategies based on online
analysis. We also correlate browsing and searching behavior with purchasing to reveal shopping patterns and
trends.

s Empower Customers to Implement Informed Marketing Decisions. While our web analytics service provides
a basis for decisions affecting online marketing, our customers can use our other Active Marketing Suite
applications to implement their decisions. Our customers can use our website search application to influence
how visitors navigate their website and search for content and products. Qur web content management
application allows our customers to publish and modify website content. We expect to release our keyword
bid management application later in 2006, which will enable our customers to develop and execute complex
keyword bidding strategies.




Improve Marketing Return on Investment. Our web analytics reports help businesses determine where their
marketing budgets are best spent. We measure and report online responses to both online and offline
marketing campaigns. Using our services, our customers can run simultaneous campaigns, assess results in
real time and then reallocate marketing resources to the most effective campaigns. They can identify which
referral sources generate the most customer leads and can assess each campaign’s return on investment in
terms of sales relative to costs.

Offer a Lower Total Cost of Ownership. Compared to traditional software, our on-demand services can
normally be quickly deployed, which allows our customers to avoid spending time installing or maintaining
software. Our services provide a low total cost of ownership by eliminating the need for large investments in
software licenses and upgrades, hardware, extensive implementation and integration services and additional
information technology staff. Our services are also compatible with all commonly used operating systems
and web browsers. Additionally, our on-site licenses are, once installed, updated in an automated fashion
over encrypted network connections which run over the Internet or private network lines, reducing our
requirement to support back releases and creating a hybrid version of in-house software with some of the
efficiencies of on-demand delivery.

Are Secure and Scalable. Our services are delivered over the Internet and have been designed to provide our
customers with high levels of security, performance and reliability. We maintain security through the use of
firewalls, intrusion detection, proprietary monitoring, and network policies and procedures. Our proprietary
data management systems are highly scalable and can handle large volumes of data at high speeds. Our
systems generally use commercially available hardware and proprietary software.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to be the global leader in on-demand and in-house digital marketing and customer analysis solutions.
The key components of our strategy are to:

Expand the Features and Functionality of Our Services. We plan to further enhance the features and
functionality of our on-demand applications, as well as adapt our services to changing Internet environments
and business practices. We also plan to continue to increase the number of languages supported by our
services. We believe that our multi-tenant application architecture is well-designed to accommodate new
features and functions. For our on-demand solutions, most additions of new features and functions are
centrally implemented entirely by us on our servers, which results in the upgrades becoming part of our
services. As a result, customers benefit from our upgrades with no action required on their part.

Pursue New Customers in Our Existing Markets, Cross-Sell Our Products and Expand into New Geographic
Markets. Our on-demand applications currently serve diverse organizations, including Fortune 500
corporations, small and medium businesses and educational institutions. We intend to continue marketing
our services to a broad range of organizations, primarily through our direct sales force. We plan to increase
the number of sales people that we employ and to develop other marketing or distribution channels for our
services. Additionally, we plan to leverage our sales force to cross-sell all of the applications in our Active
Marketing Suite across our current and potential customer base. We also plan to increase our marketing
efforts to customers outside of North America by recruiting local sales and support professionals, and we
may also expand outside North America by selectively pursuing acquisitions.

Progressively Integrate Our Digital Marketing Applications. In May 2005, we acquired Avivo, a provider of
on-demand website search and web content management applications, and in February 2006, we acquired
Visual Sciences, a provider of streaming data analysis and visualization software and on-demand services.
We intend to launch our keyword bid management application during 2006, We believe that there are
significant benefits through the integration of data, analysis and functionality of our web analytics, website
search, web content management and keyword bid management applications. We intend to integrate these
applications, as well as future applications we acquire or develop in order to enhance the value of the
services we provide to our customers.




Continue to Develop and Acquire Related Services and Technologies. We believe that our success in web
analytics will help us sell related, on-demand digital marketing services such as website search applications,
web content management, keyword bid management, call center analytics, marketing surveys, email
marketing and affiliate marketing networks. In the past year, we have developed or acquired several of these
digital marketing applications, and we intend to develop or acquire additional applications. We believe our
strengths in data analysis, scalability and delivery of on-demand application services will allow us to
compete effectively with other companies that may attempt to offer comparable digital marketing services.

Provide Superior Customer Service and Build Lasting Relationships with Our Customers. We believe that
we can generate more revenue from our customers by promoting wider and more diverse deployments of our
services. We seek to learn industry best practices based on feedback from our customers and to incorporate
these practices into our technology and professional services. This strategy enhances the value our customers
receive from our services. We intend to keep our customers satisfied by responding promptly to their
feedback and requests and by building technology that helps them achieve their goals.

Encourage the Development of Third-Party Applications that Integrate with and are Complementary to Our
Services. Our services are designed to allow third-party developers to create applications complementary to
our core services offering. Our analytic reporting and data collection processes can be integrated with third-
party applications through our published APIs and through standard-format data feeds. We actively
encourage our customers to integrate our services with other systems and applications that they use to
increase the value of our services.

Our Services

We sell our digital marketing and customer analysis solutions as a suite of applications called the Active
Marketing Suite, Customers can purchase one or more applications within our Active Marketing Suite. Currently,
we derive most of our revenue from HBX, one of our on-demand web analytics applications. We expect that an
increasing number of our customers will purchase more than one of our Active Marketing Suite applications. Our
Active Marketing Suite consists of:

Service

Description

HBX On-Demand Web Analytics HBX is our on-demand web analytics service that collects,

processes, stores and reports on Internet user behavior based on
browser activity. Reports that we provide give our customers an
extensive analysis of what visitors are doing on their web pages.
For example, HBX can be used to inform our customers which
marketing initiatives visitors responded to, what search engines
they used, what keywords they entered, how much time they spent
on web pages, what they bought online, when they abandoned
shopping carts and what geographic area they live in.

WebSideStory Search Search is our on-demand application that delivers relevant search

results to visitors of our customers’ websites and guides them, step-
by-step, to the products and information they want. Search also
enables our customers to learn from their website visitors’ behavior
and improve their business decisions based on what visitors are
searching for and how often they find what they want. Customers
can customize the search interface and results templates to match
their website design.

WebSideStory Publish Publish is our on-demand web content management application that

helps businesses improve their website. Publish allows marketers
and website owners to control website content, without sacrificing
control over workflow, design and permissions required by web
teams. For example, customers of Publish can navigate their own
website to the content they want to modify, click a button and make
the change. An additional click of a button will publish the changed
content. Little to no training is required to utilize this application,
and no technical expertise is needed.




Service Description

WebSideStory Bid (expected to be released  Bid is our on-demand keyword bid management application that

during 2006) will enable search engine marketers to actively manage pay-per-
click bids from a single, easy-to-use interface. Bid will be
integrated with HBX to enable customers to analyze the
effectiveness of their keyword bid strategies. We plan to release the
first version of Bid during 2006.

Visual Site Visual Site provides customers real-time visibility into Internet
channel campaigns, sites, visitors and segments.

Visual Call Visual Call provides customers real-time visibility into voice
channel systems, customers and segments.

Visual Mai] Visual Mail provides customers real-time visibility into e-mail
channel content, customers and segments.

In addition to our Active Marketing Suite, our other services include the following:

Professional Services. We also offer professional services to help our customers implement and use our on-
demand digital marketing applications. Our advice helps them interpret analytic reports, and we develop
recommendations for improving our customers’ websites and marketing programs. We assist in implementing our
own recommendations, analyze the results and develop new recommendations based on these results.

HBX DataFeed. HBX DataFeed allows companies to combine our on-demand web analytics with most in-house
data applications. Customers that want the raw behavioral data that we collect can obtain it through data feeds that
are easy to implement and compatible with standard database formats.

HitBox Professional. HitBox Professional is a web analytics application for small and medium-sized businesses
that need web analytics services, but do not need all of the features and capabilities of HBX. HitBox Professional
includes many, but not all of the features of HBX, and is offered at a lower base price.

Express Search. Express Search is a reduced-feature version of WebSideStory Search for small businesses and
other website operators. We provide Express Search in exchange for the right to display text advertisements in the
search results on our customers’ websites. We generate revenue from these online text advertisements.

Technology and Operations
Technology

Our on-demand and in-house technologies are highly scalable, allowing us to serve large numbers of customers,
including high-volume customers. Our proprietary software is designed to run on custom-built computer networks
that we control and maintain. Unlike traditional software vendors, for our on-demand solutions, we do not need to
supportt different hardware, operating systems or databases, or develop software for customers’ unique computing
environments. As a result, we can dedicate a greater proportion of our development resources to improve the
features, functions, reliability and speed of our services.

Our technology is based on multi-tenant application architecture. We use commercially available hardware and
proprietary software. To a lesser extent, we also use some commercially available software as components of our
technology. We have custom-built core services such as visitor session measurement and a data management system
that allow us to achieve both data manipulation and real-time reporting. We have built a distributed environment for
both data collection and end-user report generation that routes both tasks efficiently to many servers, instead of to
single, dedicated servers. Our customers can access our on-demand services through a web browser without
installing any software. They can also receive reports and data from our systems through data feeds, a browser plug-
in, a Microsoft Excel plug-in, our APIs and scheduled email delivery.

To handle large volumes of data efficiently at high speeds, we have built our own proprietary data management
systems. These systems include proprietary data management software, data storage methods and compression



algorithms. These data management systems allow us to make information and reports related to data collected over
long periods of time available on demand.

Our services provide extensive reporting and analytics functionality accessible through hierarchical menus and
interactive graphical reports available on demand. Users can customize reports and dashboards, schedule report
delivery, model scenario analyses based on business criteria that they determine and monitor the results over time.

Other applications can address our services either through our APIs or through the use of data feeds from our
network. Our systems allow customers and technology partners to insert and collect information from our services.
We maintain security through the use of firewalls, intrusion detection, proprietary monitoring and network policies
and procedures.

Our research and development expenses, including related stock-based compensation expenses, were $5.0
million, $3.8 million and $3.5 million in the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Operations

All of our servers and our customers’ data are located at three, third-party co-location facilities: one in San
Diego, California operated by Level 3 Communications, LLC, which we use primarily for our HBX web analytics
services; one in San Jose, California operated by Equinix Operating Co., Inc., which we use for our site search and
web content management services; and one in Ashburn, Virginia also operated by Equinix, which we use for our
Visual Sciences’ business. Our co-location agreements generally obligate the vendor to provide us with secure
facilities, which generally includes biometric access screening and escort-controlled access, and on-site backup
generators in the event of a power failure. The co-location agreements generally give us the right to keep our own
network operators on-site around-the-clock. We regularly rotate tapes of customer data out of these facilities and
store them in a separate location in the event of data loss at any of the facilities. In addition, we gain access to the
Internet through several diverse Internet service providers, including Level 3. Our agreement with Level 3 expires in
September 2007. Our agreement with Equinix for the San Jose facility expires in April 2006 but is subject to
automatic one-year renewals unless either party provides notice of non-renewal to the other party at least 45 days
prior to the end of the then-applicable term. Our agreement with Equinix for the Ashburn facility expires in
November 2006 but is subject to automatic one-year renewals unless either party provides notice of non-renewal to
the other party at least 90 days prior to the end of the then-applicable term.

We regularly monitor the performance of our services. The monitoring features we have built or licensed include
centralized performance consoles, automated load distribution and various self-diagnostic tools and programs. We
have service-level agreements with our customers warranting certain levels of uptime reliability and permitting them
to receive credits or terminate their agreements in the event that we fail to meet those levels.

In the event of a disaster or serious network outage, we believe that complete data processing and reporting
could be restored within 21 days, with an additional seven days to back process the collected and logged data. We
also keep off-site archival copies of customer data for reconstitution of reporting.

Customers

As of December 31, 2005, we had over 1,100 customers purchasing services from our Active Marketing Suite.
The revenue generated by the company from The Walt Disney Internet Group accounted for 14% of total revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2003. None of our customers individually accounted for more than 10% of our
revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004 or 2005.

Sales and Marketing
Direct Sales

We primarily sell our services through our direct sales force, consisting of telesales and field sales personnel.
Our telesales representatives are responsible for sales to customers assigned by region or industry, as well as
following up on leads generated from our marketing campaigns. Our field sales personnel are responsible for our
business customers, and they generally sell our services in one-on-one client meetings rather than over the




telephone. We organize our sales and marketing programs by geographic regions and by product lines. Our North
America sales programs are managed out of our San Diego, California headquarters and our San Bruno, California
office. All of our European sales programs are managed out of our Amsterdam facility. In addition, we have sales
consultants in Australia, Singapore and Canada.

Marketing

Our marketing strategy is to build our brand name and raise awareness of WebSideStory as a leading provider of
on-demand digital marketing applications. Our marketing campaigns include a variety of advertising, public
relations activities and web-based seminars, all of which are targeted at executives and other decision makers within
business organizations.

Our principal marketing initiatives include:
¢ advertising on industry-related websites;
* participation in, and sponsorship of, Internet user conferences, trade shows and industry events;
+ partnering with well-known organizations within the industry;
* using our website to provide product and company information and industry-related downloads; and
+ issuing press releases about business and product developments as appropriate.
Customer Service and Support

We believe that customer service and support begins with our sales personnel who are trained to understand our
customers’ needs. Our sales people work with our technologists to ensure that our customers receive the services
they need for their businesses. Continuing superior customer support beyond the signing of our service contract
helps us retain and expand our customer base. Support and assistance is available to our customers through the
telephone or email, depending on the size of the customer and its preference. Our customer support group is
equipped to answer general inquiries regarding our services and more technical questions relating to the use of our
services. We offer training to our customers to help them use the services they purchase from us.

International Sales

In fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, we generated approximately 14%, 16% and 11% of our total revenue,
respectively, from subsidiaries located outside the United States. Our international operations primarily consist of
sales activities for customers based in Europe and Asia. Our United States operations provide technical, legal and
network operating support services to support our European and Asian customers. Qur international direct and
indirect subsidiaries were established for the purpose of paying the salaries of our sales personnel based in Europe
and other expenses related to the billing and collecting of revenue from our European customers. Our current
international strategy is to grow and strengthen our presence in international markets by hiring additional sales
personnel and designing our services to support additional languages.

Competition
The market for digital marketing applications is rapidly evolving and highly competitive. We expect competition
to increase from existing competitors as well as new market entrants. We compete primarily with other application
service providers and software vendors on the basis of product functionality, price, performance and level of service.
We also compete with companies that offer web analytics software bundled with other products or services. Our
current principal competitors include:
¢ web analytics providers such as Coremetrics, Omniture and WebTrends;

= website search providers such as Endeca, Google and Verity; and

* web content management providers such as Interwoven and Vignette.



As we introduce our keyword bid management service, we anticipate that we will face competition from
providers of keyword management services.

In addition, we face competition from companies that develop similar technologies for their own use. Many
companies, including some of our largest potential customers, use internally-developed interactive marketing
software rather than the commercial services or software offered by us or our competitors. These companies may
seek to offer their internally-developed software commercially in the future, which will bring us into direct
competition with their products.

We believe the principal competitive factors in our market include the following:
¢ product functionality and breadth of services offered;
» speed and ease of implementation and use;
+ price and cost of ownership;
» brand name and reputation;
+ rates of user adoption among the decision makers;
« performance, security, scalability, reliability and flexibility of the services;
+ ability to gather and process large amounts of data;
+ ease of integration with existing applications; and
+ quality of customer support and services.

We believe that we compete favorably on the basis of these factors. However, some competitors may have
features in their services that we do not include, and that customers prefer. Many of our current competitors and
potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition and substantially greater financial,
technical and marketing resources than we have. As a result, our competitors may be able to devote a greater portion
of their resources to the development, marketing and sale of their products than we can and may be able to respond
more quickly to the rapid advancements in technology and to the constant changes in customer needs. We cannot
assure you that our current or potential competitors will not offer or develop services that are considered superior to
ours, or that services other than ours will not achieve greater market acceptance.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trademark, copyright and trade secret laws in the United States and other
jurisdictions as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology
and our brands. We also enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights agreements with our employees, consultants
and other third parties and control access to software, documentation and other proprietary information.

We pursue the registration of our trademarks and service marks in the United States and in other countries,
although we have not secured registration of all of our marks. WebSideStory and HitBox, among others, are our
United States registered service marks. WebSideStory, HitBox and HBX are also registered in several international
jurisdictions as well as the European Union. We have applied to register the service marks Active Marketing Suite
and HBX in the United States.

As of December 31, 2005, we had two issued patents, both relating to Internet website traffic analysis, which
both expire in 2019. We also have nine patent applications pending in the United States, as well as one international
patent application pending under the Patent Cooperation Treaty and one pending patent application in Europe,
Canada and Australia. In addition, we have entered into a cross license agreement with NetIQ, pursuant to which we
have a license to NetlQ’s U.S. Patent No. 6,112,238, which expires in 2017, and certain patents pending and NetlQ
has a license to our patents and certain patents pending. We do not believe that this cross license is material to our




ability to sell our current web analytics services. This cross license agreement will terminate on the date the last
patent expires. We cannot assure you that our pending, or any future, patent applications will be granted, that any
existing or future patents will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or that the rights granted under any
patent that may issue will provide competitive advantages to us. Many of our current and potential competitors
dedicate substantially greater resources to the protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights, especially
patents. If a patent has been or is issued to a third party that prevents us from using some or all of our non-patented
technology, we would need either to obtain a license to, or to design around, that patent. We may not be able to
obtain a license on acceptable terms, if at all, or design around the patent, which could harm our ability to provide
our services.

The software and Internet industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, trademarks
and copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual
property rights. For example, we, along with several of our competitors with technology similar to ours, are
currently involved in patent litigation with NetRatings, Inc. NetRatings recently filed a patent infringement lawsuit
against us in New York federal court, and we have filed a similar patent infringement lawsuit against NetRatings in
federal court in San Diego. For more information about these lawsuits, please see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings”
below.

While our patent applications, copyrights, trademarks and other intellectual property rights are important, we
believe that our technical expertise and ability to introduce new products in a timely manner will also be important
factors in maintaining our competitive position.

United States and Foreign Government Regulation

The Internet, and in particular, the regulation of commercial enterprises on the Internet, has become a focus of
state, federal and foreign governments in recent years. Discussions among policymakers and proposed regulation
regarding the Internet have focused on the protection of consumer privacy. Much of the proposed and enacted
legislation regulates the collection and disclosure of personally identifiable information of computer users such as
their names, addresses, credit card information and social security numbers.

Legislation has been introduced in the United States House of Representatives to regulate spyware. The term
spyware is not consistently defined, but is often used to describe software that is installed on a consumer’s computer
and collects and disseminates information about the consumer without the consumer’s knowledge or informed
consent. The term spyware also may encompass programs that take control of a consumer’s computer or display
advertising that either cannot be closed or that is triggered by specific keywords entered into search engines. The
proposed legislation would require any person that is not the owner or authorized user of a computer system to give
clear and conspicuous notice and to obtain consent before installing and activating any information collection
program. One of the proposed bills would direct the Federal Trade Commission to regulate spyware and would
authorize damages of up to $1.0 million per violation or up to $3.0 million per violation for deceptive practices.
Another proposed bill includes criminal penalties and imprisonment. Legislation regulating spyware and the display
of contextual or keyword advertising has been considered, or is being considered, in nearly all state legislatures.

None of our services currently require or provide for the installation of software on a consumer’s computer,
however, it is possible that legislation intended to regulate tracking of consumer’s usage on the Internet could bring
some or all of our services within a regulatory framework. Such regulation could prevent us from operating our
business in its current fashion, and could require us to change our business practices or some of our services.

Additionally, in the European Union, there is a range of legislation addressing, or affecting, Internet-related
businesses. In particular, the 1995 European Union Directive on Data Protection applies to the processing of
personal data, defined to include collection, storage, consultation and disclosure of information about identified or
identifiable individuals. Because our service does not generally collect personal data as defined under the European
Union Directives, and because we do not associate the information we do collect with identified or identifiable
individuals, we believe that the data we collect and provide to our customers does not constitute personal data
regulated by this Directive. We also believe that in the instances where we collect personal data, we do so in
compliance with the European Union Directives. The 2002 European Union Privacy and Electronic
Communications Directive regarding the processing of personal data and privacy in electronic communications




prohibits the use of cookies, spyware and other tracking devices unless the user is given clear and conspicuous
notice and the right to opt out. The effect of this Directive on our business will not be certain until the
implementation of this Directive by the members of the European Union.

State, federal and foreign governments are considering other laws that may regulate our activities or levy sales or
other taxes relating to our activities. The laws governing the Internet, however, remain largely unsettled, even in
areas where there has been some legislative action. It may take years to determine whether and how existing laws
such as those governing intellectual property, privacy, libel and taxation apply to the Internet and e-commerce
activities. In addition, the growth and development of the market for Internet commerce may prompt requests for
more stringent consumer protection laws, both in the United States and abroad, that may impose additional burdens
on companies conducting business over the Internet. Our business and financial results could be materially harmed
by the adoption or modification of laws or regulations relating to the Internet.

Employees

On December 31, 2005, we had 214 employees, including 128 in sales and marketing, 59 in technology
development and operations and 27 in general administration. We have never had a work stoppage. None of our
employees are represented under collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our
employees to be good. '

Available Information

All materials we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission may be obtained electronically
through use of the SEC internet site, http://www.sec.gov. Additionally, these materials may be obtained through the
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 or by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330.

We make available free of charge, on or through our Internet website, our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Our Internet address is
www.websidestory.com. Our internet address is not intended to function as a hyperlink. The information in our
website is not and should not be considered part of this report and is not incorporated by reference in this document.

Item 1A. Risks Factors

The following information sets forth factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
contained in forward-looking statements we have made in this annual report and those we may make from time to
time.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our web analytics services comprise a substantial majority of our revenue, and our business will be harmed if
customer demand for these services declines.

Our web analytics services, HBX and HitBox Professional, and related support represented §2%, 96% and 99%
of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We anticipate that web
analytics services and support will continue to represent a substantial majority of our total revenues. Our future
success will depend, in part, on our ability to further enhance our web analytics services to meet client needs, to add
functionality and to address technological advancements. Our future success will also be dependent upon our ability
to attract new web analytics customers and to convince existing web analytics customers to renew their subscription
agreements with us. In order to expand or to maintain our web analytics business, we may need to make significant
investments in additional sales, marketing and other resources, which may not generate any additional revenues. We
have experienced significant competition from other providers of web analytics services, and we cannot assure you
that we will be able to continue to enhance our web analytics technology, expand our business or remain competitive
in this market, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
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We have limited experience with digital marketing applications and our efforts to expand our services beyond
web analytics may not be successful.

We have historically focused on the web analytics market and our efforts to expand our business beyond web
analytics may not be successful. In connection with our acquisition of Avivo in May 2005, we expanded our
services to include website search and web content management. We plan to introduce our keyword bid
management service during 2006, and our strategy includes the further expansion of our service offerings to include
additional digital marketing applications in the future. The launch of new services can involve technological
challenges, which may not be resolved on a timely basis or at all and may require significant development efforts
and expenditures. We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully launch our keyword bid management
service on a timely basis or that our website search, web content management, keyword bid management or other
new services will achieve broad market acceptance or generate significant revenues. In addition, the expansion of
our services beyond web analytics may result in a diversion of management’s attention and may require us to
commit significant financial and other resources to an unproven business that may not generate a commensurate
level of revenue or profits and could limit the resources we are able to devote to our existing business. If we are not
successful in our expansion efforts, our brand image and existing business could be harmed and our stock price
could decline.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health.

In connection with our acquisition of Visual Sciences, we issued $20.0 million in aggregate principal amount of
senior notes. The senior notes accrue interest at 4% per annum and mature on August 1, 2007. In addition, the senior
notes are subject to mandatory repayment, on demand, at any time after April 1, 2007 or upon certain underwritten
public offerings of our common stock, and must be repaid if we incur indebtedness in excess of $1.0 million that
ranks senior or pari passu with the priority of payment attributable to the indebtedness represented by the senior
notes, subject to certain permitted indebtedness. Although the senior notes do not contain any restrictive covenants,
the mandatory repayment provisions effectively preclude us from incurring indebtedness that is not used to refinance
the senior notes or from conducting a public offering of our common stock, the proceeds of which are not used to
repay the senior notes.

The indebtedness under the senior notes could have other important consequences. For example, it could:
» increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

« impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital needs, capital expenditures,
acquisitions and general corporate purposes;

+ require us to dedicate our cash flows from operations to the payment of principal and interest on our
indebtedness, thereby eliminating or reducing the availability of our cash flows to fund working capital
needs, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

+ limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we
operate; and

» place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less indebtedness.

We will likely need to raise additional capital which, together with the cash we expect to generate from operating
activities, would then allow us to pay off the $20.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our senior notes
commencing in April 2007. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings in order to secure such
additional funds. We may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, or at all. If we are
unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when required, it could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations, and our ability to continue to support our business
growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.
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If we cannot successfully integrate our business with the business of Avive and Visual Sciences, or if the
benefits of these acquisitions do not meet the expectations of investors or financial or industry analysts, the
market price of our common stock may decline.

We completed the acquisitions of Avivo and Visual Sciences on May 4, 2005 and February 1, 2006,
respectively, and we cannot assure you that we will realize the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions. The market
price of our common stock may decline as a result of our acquisition of Avivo or Visual Sciences for a variety of
reasons, including, among others, the following:

* we may not be able to integrate our business with the business of Avivo or Visual Sciences in a timely and
efficient manner, or at all;

+ the combined company may not achieve the benefits of either acquisition as rapidly as, or to the extent,
anticipated by investors or financial or industry analysts;

* we may not be able to expand the customer base of Avivo or Visual Sciences and, in particular, may not be
able to continue to generate advertising revenue from Avivo’s free website search services; or

+ the former stockholders of Avivo or Visual Sciences could dispose of a significant portion of our common
stock that they received in connection with the acquisition.

In addition, the market price of our stock may be adversely effected as a result of changes to the preliminary
purchase price valuation and the allocation of the estimated purchase price to the acquired Visual Sciences business.
We will estimate the purchase price valuation and allocate the purchase price to Visual Sciences’ tangible and
intangible assets and liabilities. Those preliminary estimates may change as a result of, among other things,
finalization of a valuation study and review by our independent public accountants. Changes to our preliminary
purchase price calculation and allocation may adversely affect our results of operations in future periods.

We operate in highly competitive markets, which could make it difficult for us to acquire and retain
customers.

The market for digital marketing applications is rapidly evolving and highly competitive. We expect competition
to increase from existing competitors as well as new market entrants. We compete primarily with other application
service providers and software vendors on the basis of product functionality, price, timeliness and level of service.
Should our competitors consolidate, or if our smaller competitors are acquired by other, larger competitors, they
may be able to provide services comparable to ours at a lower price due to their size. We also compete with
companies that offer digital marketing software bundled with other products or services, which may result in such
companies effectively selling these services at prices below the market. Our current principal competitors include:

» web analytics providers such as Coremetrics, Omniture and WebTrends;
+ website search providers such as Endeca, Google and Verity; and
+ web content management providers such as Interwoven and Vignette.

As we introduce our keyword bid management service, we anticipate that we will face competition from
providers of keyword management services.

In addition, we face competition from companies that develop similar technologies for their own use. Many
companies, including some of our largest potential customers, use internally-developed digital marketing software
rather than the commercial services or software offered by us or our competitors. These companies may seek to offer
their internally-developed software commercially in the future, which would bring us into direct competition with
their products. To date, no web analytics service has been adopted as the industry standard for measuring Internet
user behavior and preferences. However, if one of our current or future competitors is successful in establishing its
products and services as the industry standard, it will be difficult for us to retain current customers or attract
additional customers for our services.




Furthermore, some businesses may require data or reports that are available only in competitors® products, and
potential customers may, therefore, select the products of our competitors. Many of our current and potential
competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, access to larger client bases, and substantially
greater resources, including sales and marketing, financial, support and other resources than us. As a result, these
competitors may be able to devote more resources to new customer acquisitions or may be able to respond to
evolving market needs more quickly than us. If we are not able to compete successfully against our current and
future competitors, it will be difficult to acquire and retain customers, and we may experience limited or no revenue
growth, reduced operating margins, loss of market share and diminished value in our services. '

Most of our services are sold pursuant to short-term subscription agreements, and if our customers elect not
to renew these agreements, our revenue may decrease.

The majority of our services are sold pursuant to short-term subscription agreements, which are generally one to
three years in length with no obligation to renew. Many of our customers are relatively new, which makes it difficult
for us to predict if they will renew their agreements. Many of our subscription agreements will be subject to renewal
in the next 12 months, and we cannot assure you that such agreements will be renewed. Our renewal rates may
decline due to a variety of factors, including the services and prices offered by our competitors, the level of service
we provide, consolidation in our customer base or cessation of operations by some of our customers. If our renewal
rates are low or decline for any reason, or if customers renew on less favorable terms, our revenue may decrease,
which could adversely affect our stock price.

Because we recognize the majority of our revenue from subscriptions to our services over the term of the
applicable agreement, the lack of subscription renewals or new subscription agreements may not be
immediately reflected in our operating results.

We recognize a large portion of our revenue from our customers monthly over the term of their agreements with
us. As a result, the majority of our quarterly revenue usually represents deferred revenue from subscription
agreements entered into during previous quarters. As such, a decline in new or renewed subscription agreements in
any one quarter will not necessarily be fully reflected in the revenue for the corresponding quarter but will
negatively affect our revenue in future quarters. In addition, the effect of significant downturns in sales and market
acceptance of our services may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods. Our revenue
recognition policy also makes it difficult for us to reflect any rapid expansion in our customer base or the addition of
significant new subscription agreements.

We have only recently become profitable and may not be able to maintain our profitability.

Although we have generated net income in recent periods, we have not historically been profitable and may not
be able to continue to be profitable. In addition, Avivo was not profitable until the fourth quarter of 2004. We expect
that our expenses relating to the sales of our services, technology improvements and general and administrative
functions, as well as the costs of operating and maintaining our network, will increase in the future. Because a large
portion of cur costs are fixed, we may not be able to reduce or maintain our expenses in response to any decrease in
our revenue, which could adversely affect our operating results and profitability.

If we fail to respond to rapidly changing technology or evolving industry standards, our services may become
obsolete or less competitive.

The market for our services is characterized by rapid technological advances, changes in client requirements,
changes in protocols and evolving industry standards. If we are unable to develop enhancements to and new features
for our existing services or acceptable new services that keep pace with rapid technological developments, our
services may become obsolete, less marketable and less competitive and our business will be harmed. The success of
any enhancements, new features and services depends on several factors, including the timing of completion,
functionality and market acceptance of the feature or enhancement. Failure to produce acceptable new features and
enhancements may significantly impair our revenue growth and reputation.
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We may be liable to our customers and may lose customers if we provide poor service, if our services do not
comply with our agreements or if there is a loss of data.

The information in our databases may not be complete or may contain inaccuracies that our customers regard as
significant. Our ability to collect and report data may be interrupted by a number of factors, including our inability
to access the Internet or the failure of our network or software systems. In addition, computer viruses may harm our
systems causing us to lose data, and the transmission of computer viruses could expose us to litigation. Our
subscription agreements generally give our customers the right to terminate their agreements for cause if we fail to
meet certain reliability standards stated in the agreements or if we otherwise materially breach our obligations. Any
failures in the services that we supply or the loss of any of our customers’ data may give our customers the right to
terminate their agreements with us and could subject us to liability. We may also be required to spend substantial
amounts to defend lawsuits and pay any resulting damage awards. We may be liable to our customers for loss of
business, loss of future revenue, breach of contract or even for the loss of goodwill to their business. In addition to
potential liability, if we supply inaccurate information or experience interruptions in our ability to supply
information, our reputation could be harmed and we could lose customers.

Although we have errors and omissions insurance with coverage limits of up to $2 million, this coverage may be
inadequate or may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, we cannot assure you that
this policy will cover any claim against us for loss of data or other indirect or consequential damages and defending
a suit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management’s attention.

We may expand through acquisitions of, or investments in, other companies or through business
relationships, all of which may divert our management’s attention, result in additional dilution to our
stockholders or consume resources that are necessary to sustain our business.

One of our business strategies is to acquire competing or complementary services, technologies or businesses.
We also may enter into relationships with other businesses in order to expand our service offerings, which could
involve preferred or exclusive licenses, additional channels of distribution or discount pricing or investments in
other companies.

An acquisition, investment or business relationship may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and
expenditures. In particular, we may encounter difficulties assimilating or integrating the acquired businesses,
technologies, products, personnel or operations of the acquired companies, particularly if the key personnel of the
acquired company choose not to work for us, and we may have difficulty retaining the customers of any acquired
business due to changes in management and ownership. Acquisitions may aiso disrupt our ongoing business, divert
our resources and require significant management attention that would otherwise be available for ongoing
development of our business. Moreover, we cannot assure you that the anticipated benefits of any acquisition,
investment or business relationship would be realized or that we would not be exposed to unknown liabilities. In
connection with one or more of those transactions, we may:

» issue additional equity securities that would dilute our stockholders;
+ use cash that we may need in the future to operate our business;

* incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that we are unable to repay;
« incur large charges or substantial liabilities;

» encounter difficulties retaining key employees of the acquired company or integrating diverse business
cultures; and

+ become subject to adverse tax consequences, or incur substantial depreciation or deferred compensation
charges.

We periodically engage in preliminary discussions relating to acquisitions, but we are not currently a party to
any acquisition agreements relating to pending or proposed acquisitions.
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Fluctuations in our operating results may make it difficult to predict our future performance and may result
in volatility in the market price of our commeon stock.

Due to our limited experience in offering a suite of on-demand digital marketing applications, our evolving
business model and the unpredictability of our emerging industry, we may not be able to accurately forecast our rate
of growth. In addition, we may experience significant fluctuations in our operating results for other reasons such as:

* our ability to retain and increase sales to existing customers, attract new customers and satisfy our customers’
requirements;

« the timing and success of new product introductions or upgrades by us or our competitors;

+ changes in our pricing policies or payment terms or those of our competitors;

« concerns relating to the security of our network and systems;

« the rate of success of our domestic and international expansion;

= our ability to hire and retain key executives and technical and sales and marketing personnel;

« our ability to expand our operations and the amount and timing of expenditures related to this expansion;
+ limitations in the scalability of our network and systems;

» costs related to the integration of Avivo and Visual Sciences with our business and the development or
acquisition of other technologies, products or businesses; and

« general economic, industry and market conditions.

These factors tend to make the timing and amount of revenue unpredictable and may lead to greater period-to-
period fluctuations in revenue than we have experienced historically.

As aresult of the factors described above, we believe that our quarterly revenue and results of operations are
likely to vary significantly in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be
meaningful. You should not rely on the results of one quarter as an indication of future performance. If our quarterly
revenue or results of operations fall below the expectations of investors, the price of our common stock could
decline substantially.

We rely on a small number of third parties to support our network, any disruption of which could affect our
ability to provide our services and could harm our reputation.

Our network is susceptible to outages due to fires, floods, power loss, telecommunications failures, systems
failures, break-ins and similar events. We have experienced some outages due to power loss, systems failure and
telecommunications failure. In addition, some of our network infrastructure is located in San Diego, California and
in San Jose, California, areas susceptible to earthquakes and rolling electricity black-outs. We do not have multiple
operating sites for our services in the event of any such occurrence. Our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses,
break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems. Frequent or persistent
disruptions of our services could cause us to suffer losses that are impossible to quantify at this time such as claims
by customers for indirect or consequential damages, loss of market share and damages to our reputation. Our
business interruption insurance may not compensate us for every kind of loss resulting from disruptions of our

services, and even if the type of loss is covered, the amount incurred may exceed the loss limitations in our
insurance policies.

All of our servers and our customers’ data are located at three, third-party co-location facilities; one in San

Diego, California, operated by Level 3 Communications, LLC which we use primarily for our HBX web analytic
services; one in San Jose, California, operated by Equinix Operating Co., Inc., which we use for our site search and
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web content management services; and one in Ashburn, Virginia also operated by Equinix which we use for our
Visual Sciences’ business. Our agreement with Level 3 expires in September 2007 and Level 3 has the right to
terminate the agreement if (i) we fail to pay any amounts past due within ten days after written notice; or (ii) we fail
to observe or perform any other material term of the agreement and such failure continues for 30 days after written
notice to us by Level 3. In addition, Level 3 may terminate our rights to use the co-location space and receive co-
location services if (a) Level 3°s rights to use its leased San Diego property terminates or expires for any reason, (b)
we are in default of the agreement, (c) we make a material alteration to the co-location space without Level 3’s prior
written consent, (d) we allow persons not pre-approved by Level 3 to have access to the Level 3 facilities, or (e) we
possess firearms, illegal drugs, or alcohol in a Level 3 facility or engage in any criminal activity in any such facility;
provided that with respect to (b), (c) and (d), we will have ten days after written notice to us to cure the breach,
unless our actions interfere or have the potential to interfere with other Level 3 customers. Our agreement with
Equinix for the San Jose facility expires in April 2006 but is subject to automatic one-year renewals unless either
party provides notice of non-renewal to the other party at least 45 days prior to the end of the then-applicable term.
Our agreement with Equinix for the Ashburn facility expires in November 2006 but is subject to automatic one-year
renewals unless either party provides notice of non-renewal to the other party at least 90 days prior to the end of the
then-applicable term. In addition, Equinix has the right to terminate an agreement with us if (i) we fail to pay any
amounts past due within ten days after written notice, (ii) we liquidate, become insolvent or cease doing business or
(iii) we breach any other material term of the applicable agreement and such failure continues for 30 days after
written notice to us by Equinix. In addition, among other reasons, Equinix may terminate our rights to use the co-
location space and receive co-location services if the applicable property becomes subject to a condemnation
proceeding or is condemned, Equinix’s possession of such property is otherwise terminated or abated or Equinix
cannot provide us with access to the property for a period exceeding a specified number of days.

We depend on access to the Internet through Internet service providers, or ISPs, to operate our business. If we
lose the services of one or more of our ISPs for any reason, we could experience disruption in our service offerings.
The loss of one of our ISPs as the result of consolidation in the ISP industry could delay us from retaining the
services of a replacement ISP and increase the potential for disruption of our business. Any disruption to our
business could damage our reputation and result in a decrease in our revenue from the loss of current or potential
customers.

A rapid expansion of our network and systems could cause us to lose data or cause our network or systems to
fail.

In the future, we may need to expand our network and systems at a more rapid pace than we have in the past. We
may suddenly require additional bandwidth for which we have not adequately planned. We may secure an extremely
large customer or a group of customers with extraordinary volumes of information to collect and process that would
require significant system resources, and our systems may be unable to process the information. Our network or
systems may not be capable of meeting the demand for increased capacity, or we may incur additional unanticipated
expenses to accommodate such capacity constraints. In addition, we may lose valuable data or our network may
temporarily shut down if we fail to expand our network to meet future requirements. Any lapse in our ability to
collect or transmit data will decrease the value of our data, prevent us from providing the complete data requested by
our customers and effect some of our customers’ web pages. Any disruption in our network processing or loss of
Internet user data may damage our reputation and result in the loss of customers.

If our security measures are breached and unauthorized access is obtained, our services may be perceived as
not being secure, and customers may hold us liable or reduce their use of our services.

Our services involve the storage and transmission of proprietary information, and security breaches could expose
us to a risk of loss of this information, litigation and possible liability. If our security measures are breached as a
result of third-party action, employee error or otherwise, and as a result, someone obtains unauthorized access to our
data or our customers’ data, we could incur liability and our reputation will be damaged. For example, hackers or
individuals who attempt to breach our network security could, if successful, misappropriate proprietary information
or cause interruptions in our services. If we experience any breaches of our network security or sabotage, we might
be required to expend significant capital and resources to protect against or to alleviate problems. We may not be
able to remedy any problems caused by hackers or saboteurs in a timely manner, or at all. Because techniques used
to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until
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launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative
measures. If an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, the perception of the effectiveness of our security
measures could be harmed and we could lose current and potential customers.

Any failure to adequately expand our direct sales force will impede our growth.

We expect to be substantially dependent on our direct sales force to obtain new customers, particularly large
enterprise customers, and to manage our customer relationships. We plan to expand our direct sales force and
believe that there is significant competition for direct sales personnel with the advanced sales skills and technical
knowledge we need. Our ability to achieve significant growth in revenue in the future will depend, in large part, on
our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient direct sales personnel. New hires require significant
training and may, in some cases, take more than a year before they achieve full productivity. Our recent hires and
planned hires may not become as productive as we would like, and we may be unable to hire sufficient numbers of
qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we do business. If we are unable to hire and develop
sufficient numbers of productive sales personnel, sales of our service will suffer.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growth, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We have experienced significant growth in recent periods. Our total revenue has grown from $14.3 million in
2000 to $39.4 million in 2005. We anticipate that we will need to continue to expand and effectively manage our
organization, operations and facilities in order to manage our growth and maintain our recent profitability. We
increased the number of our full-time employees from 17 as of January 1, 1998 to 214 as of December 31, 2005, and
we expect to continue to expand our team to meet our strategic objectives. If we continue to grow, it is possible that
our management, systems and facilities currently in place may not be adequate. Our need to effectively manage our
operations and growth requires that we continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls,
reporting systems and procedures. We may not be able to successfully implement these tasks on a large scale and,
accordingly, may not achieve our strategic objectives.

If we are unable to effectively and efficiently implement the necessary initiatives to eliminate the material
weaknesses identified in our internal control over reporting or if we have other material weaknesses in our
internal control over financial reporting, there could be an adverse effect on our financial reporting.

As required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December
31, 2005, the end of the period covered by this report. In connection with this evaluation, our chief executive officer
and chief financial officer determined that material weaknesses existed in our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005 with respect to insufficient staffing levels in our accounting and financial
reporting functions and the application of generally accepted accounting principles to lease transactions. These
material weaknesses were identified in the fourth quarter of 2005 in connection with a restatement of our historical
financial statements. We commenced several remediation initiatives in the fourth quarter of 2005, which we are
continuing to pursue in 2006, in an effort to remediate these material weaknesses. Although we expect that these
material weaknesses will be remediated during 2006, the material weaknesses were not fully remediated as of
December 31, 2005. Furthermore, we cannot provide assurances regarding the effectiveness of our remediation
efforts. For more information regarding the restatement of our historical financial statements, the material
weaknesses identified by management in our internal control over financial reporting, and our remediation efforts to
cure such weaknesses, please see “Item 9A. Controls and Procedures” below.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting
objectives because of its inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves
human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human
failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management
override. Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on
a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. Furthermore, the existence or persistence of one or more
material weaknesses could impact the reliability of our financial reporting, and substantial costs and resources may
be required to rectify any internal control deficiencies. If we cannot remediate our existing material weaknesses or
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produce reliable financial reports, investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information, the market
price of our stock could decline significantly, we may be unable to obtain additional financing to operate and expand
our business and our business and financial condition could be harmed.

The success of our business depends in large part on our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual
property rights.

We regard the protection of our inventions, patents, copyrights, service marks, trademarks and trade secrets as
important to our future success. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, service mark, trademark, and trade
secret laws and contractual restrictions to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which only offer limited
protection. We endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees and contractors and agreements with parties
with whom we do business in order to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. Despite our
efforts, the steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property may not prevent the misappropriation of
proprietary rights or the reverse engineering of our technology. Moreover, others may independently develop
technologies that are competitive to ours or infringe our intellectual property. The enforcement of our intellectual
property rights also depends on our legal actions against such infringers being successful, but we cannot be sure
such actions will be successful, even when our rights have been infringed.

Although we do have two issued U.S. patents, several registered U.S. service marks, more than 30 registered
foreign service marks and pending patent and service mark applications, we cannot assure you that any future
patents or service mark registrations will be issued with respect to pending or future applications or that any issued
patents or registered service marks will be enforceable or provide adequate protection of our proprietary rights.

Because of the global nature of the Internet, our websites can be viewed worldwide, but we do not have
intellectual property protection in every jurisdiction. Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, service mark,
copyright and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which our services are available over
the Internet. In addition, the legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of
intellectual property rights in Internet-related industries are uncertain and still evolving.

If a third party asserts that we are infringing its intellectual property, whether successful or not, it could
subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation or expensive licenses, and our business may be harmed.

The software and Internet industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, trademarks
and copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual
property rights. For example, we, along with several of our competitors with technology similar to ours, are
currently involved in patent litigation with NetRatings. NetRatings recently filed a patent infringement lawsuit
against us in New York federal court, and we have filed a similar patent infringement lawsuit against NetRatings in
federal court in San Diego. For more information about these lawsuits, please see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings”
below. Third parties may assert patent and other intellectual property infringement claims against us in the form of
lawsuits, letters or other forms of communication. If a third party successfully asserts a claim that we are infringing
their proprietary rights, royalty or licensing agreements might not be available on terms we find acceptable or at all.
As currently pending patent applications are not publicly available, we cannot anticipate all such claims or know
with certainty whether our technology infringes the intellectual property rights of third parties. We expect that the
number of infringement claims in our market will increase as the number of services and competitors in our industry
grows. These claims, whether or not successful, could:

» divert management’s attention;
+ result in costly and time-consuming litigation;

» require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at
all; or

* require us to redesign our software and services to avoid infringement.




As a result, any third-party intellectual property claims against us could increase our expenses and adversely
affect our business. In addition, many of our subscription agreements require us to indemnify our customers for
third-party intellectual property infringement claims, which would increase the cost to us resulting from an adverse
ruling in any such claim. Even if we have not infringed any third parties’ intellectual property rights, we cannot be
sure our legal defenses will be successful, and even if we are successful in defending against such claims, our legal
defense could require significant financial resources and management’s time.

If we fail to develop our brands cost-effectively, our business may suffer.

We believe that developing and maintaining awareness of the WebSideStory and Visual Sciences brands in a
cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our current and future services and is an
important element in attracting new customers. Furthermore, we believe that brand recognition will become more
important as competition in our market increases. Successful promotion of our brands will depend largely on the
effectiveness of our marketing efforts and on our ability to provide reliable and useful services at competitive prices.
Brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenue, and even if they do, any increased revenue may not
offset the expenses we incur in building our brands. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brands, or
incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain our brands, we may fail to attract
enough new customers or retain our existing customers to the extent necessary to realize a sufficient return on our
brand-building efforts, and our business and results of operations could suffer.

We rely on our management team and will need to hire additional personnel to grow our business.

Our success and future growth depends to a significant degree on the skills and continued services of Jeffrey W.
Lunsford, our president, chief executive officer and chairman, who was hired in April 2003, and also on our senior
management team. We anticipate that we will need to continue to hire key management personnel. We may not be
able to successfully locate, hire, assimilate and retain other qualified key management personnel to grow our
business.

We have employment agreements with our executive officers; however, under these agreements, our
employmert relationships with our executive officers are generally “at-will,” and they can terminate their
employment relationship with us at any time. We do not maintain key person life insurance on any members of our
management team.

Our future success also depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled technical, managerial,
sales, marketing and customer service personnel. We plan to hire additional personnel in all areas of our business, in
particular for our sales, marketing and technology development areas, both domestically and internationally.
Competition for these types of personnel is intense, particularly in the Internet industry. As a result, we may be
unable to successfully attract or retain qualified personnel. Our inability to retain and attract the necessary personnel
could adversely affect our business.

Our business strategy includes expanding our international operations; therefore, our business is susceptible
to risks associated with international operations.

We currently maintain a sales office in the Netherlands and currently have sales personnel or independent sales
consultants in Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Singapore, Sweden and the United Kingdom. We have limited
experience operating in these foreign jurisdictions and no experience operating in other foreign markets into which
we may expand in the future. Conducting international operations subjects us to new risks that we have not generally
faced in the United States. These risks include but are not limited to:

* unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements;

» localization of our service, including translation into foreign languages and associated expenses;

» fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
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« political, social and economic instability abroad, including conflicts in the Middle East, terrorist attacks and
security concerns in general;

+ longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;
+ difficulties in managing and staffing international operations,;

» potentially adverse tax consequences, inciuding the complexities of foreign value added tax systems and
restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

* maintaining and servicing computer hardware in distant locations;
+ the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and different legal standards; and
» reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.

The occurrence of any one of these risks could negatively affect our international business and, consequently,
our results of operations generally. In addition, the Internet may not be used as widely in international markets in
which we expand our operations and, as a result, we may not be successful in offering our services internationally.

Some of our international subscription fees are currently denominated in U.S. dollars and paid in local currency.
As aresult, fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may make our services more expensive
for international customers, which could harm our business.

Changes in financial accounting standards or practices or existing taxation rules or practices may cause
adverse, unexpected financial reporting fluctuations and affect our reported results of operations.

A change in accounting standards or practices or a change in existing taxation rules or practices can have a
significant effect on our reported results and may even affect our reporting of transactions completed before the
change is effective. New accounting pronouncements and taxation rules and varying interpretations of accounting
pronouncements and taxation practice have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to existing rules or the
questioning of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct our
business. For example, in December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, or SEAS No. 123R. This statement is a revision of SFAS
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB No. 25. SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their
fair values. SFAS No. [23R required that we change the way we account for share-based payments, including
employee stock options. We previously accounted for stock-based awards to employees in accordance with APB
No. 25. Under our previous accounting policy, we recorded stock-based compensation based on the difference
between the exercise price of the stock option and the fair market value at the time of grant. To arrive at the fair
value for each option grant, SFAS No. 123R requires the use of an option pricing model to evaluate our stock by
factoring in additional variables such as expected life of the option, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility of the
stock and expected dividend yield. Subsequently, in May 2005, the SEC approved the rule delaying the effective
date of SFAS No. 123R to the annual period beginning after June 15, 2005. SFAS No. 123R became effective for us
on January 1, 2006. We are finalizing our evaluation of the effect this rule will have on our condensed consolidated
financial statements and our future results, and we expect that it will result in a material increase in our
compensation expenses.

Our net operating loss carryforwards may expire unutilized, which could prevent us from offsetting future
taxable income.

Changes in control have occurred that have triggered the limitations of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code
on the net operating loss carryforwards of WebSideStory and Avivo. As a result of the Section 382 limitations, we
can only utilize a portion of the net operating loss carryforwards generated prior to the ownership changes to offset
future taxable income generated in U.S. federal and state jurisdictions.




At December 31, 2003, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $30.1 million and state
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $18.0 million, which are available to offset future taxable income.
The federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2020. The state net operating loss carryforwards
will begin to expire in 2006.

In 2005, net deferred tax assets, before valuation allowance, increased approximately $3.3 million primarily due
to the recognition of approximately $4.6 million of net deferred tax assets in connection with the acquisition of
Avivo during May 2005. Avivo’s net deferred tax assets primarily represent net operating loss carryforwards that
will be limited in use on an annual basis pursuant to Section 382. The combined deferred tax assets represent the
amounts expected to be realized before expiration.

We periodically assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets. We consider all
available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks
associated with estimates of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible profits. As a result of this
analysis of all available evidence, both positive and negative, we concluded that it is more-likely-than-not that our
net deferred tax assets will ultimately be recovered and, accordingly, we released our valuation allowance on such
assets in the year ended December 31, 2005.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Widespread blocking or erasing of cookies or limitations on our ability to use cookies may impede our ability
to collect information with our technology and reduce the value of that data.

Our technology currently uses cookies, which are small files of information placed on an Internet user’s
computer, to collect information about the user’s visits to the websites of our customers. Third-party software and
our own technology make it easy for users to block or delete our cookies. Several software programs, sometimes
marketed as ad-ware or spyware detectors, block our cookies by default or prompt users to delete or block our
cookies. If a large proportion, such as a majority, of users delete or block our cookies, this could significantly
undermine the value of the data that we collect for our customers and could negatively impact our ability to deliver
accurate reports to our customers, which would harm our business.

Changes in web browsers may also encourage users to block our cookies. Microsoft, for example, frequently
modifies its Internet Explorer web browser. Certain modifications by Microsoft could substantially impair our
ability to use cookies for data collection purposes. If that happens and we are unable to adapt our technology and
practices adequately in response to changes in Microsoft’s technology, then the value of our services will be
substantially impaired. Additionally, other technologies could be developed that impede the operation of our
services. These developments could prevent us from providing our services to our customers or reduce the value of
our services.

In addition, laws regulating the use of cookies by us and our customers could also prevent us from providing our
services to our customers or require us to employ alternative technology. A European Union Directive currently
being implemented by member countries requires us to tell users about cookies placed on their computers, describe
how we and our customers will use the information collected and offer users the right to refuse a cookie. Although
no European country currently requires consent prior to delivery of a cookie, one or more European countries may
do so in the future. If we were required to obtain consent before delivering a cookie or if the use or effectiveness of
cookies is limited, we would be required to switch to alternative technologies to collect user profile information,
which may not be done on a timely basis, at a reasonable cost, or at all.

Currently, the only alternative to using cookies to identify a browser and its browsing session is the use of an
Internet protocol address, or IP address. The IP address is an identifier that each computer or other device connected
to the Internet has. However, for purposes of web analytics, [P addresses are not as reliable as cookies, because they
are often re-assigned by Internet service providers. We do not believe that a better alternative to using cookies
currently exists for tracking online customer behavior. Creating replacement technology for cookies could require us
to expend significant time and resources. We may be unable to complete this alternative technology development in
time to aveid negative consequences to our business, and the replacement methods we develop may not be
commercially feasible. The replacement of cookies might also reduce our existing customer base by requiring
current customers to take specific action to accommodate new technology.
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Privacy concerns and laws or other domestic or foreign regulations may subject us to litigation or limit our
ability to collect and use Internet user information, resulting in a decrease in the value of our services and an

adverse impact on the sales of our services.

We collect, use and distribute information derived from the activities of Internet users. Federal, state and foreign
government bodies and agencies have adopted or are considering adopting laws regarding the collection, use and
disclosure of personal information obtained from consumers. The costs of compliance with, and the other burdens
imposed by, such laws may limit the adoption of our services. In addition, some companies have been the subject of
class-action lawsuits and governmental investigations based on their collection, use and distribution of Internet user
information without the consent of Internet users. For example, the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, investigates
companies’ compliance with their own stated privacy policies. While we are not aware of any FTC investigation
regarding any practices we currently employ, the FTC may in the future investigate the practices we employ.
Governmental entities and private persons or entities may assert that our methods of collecting, using and
distributing Internet user information are illegal or improper. Any such legal action, even if unsuccessful, may
distract our management’s attention, divert our resources, negatively affect our public image and harm our business.

Both existing and proposed laws regulate and restrict the collection and use of information over the Internet that
personally identifies the Internet user. These laws continue to change and vary among domestic and foreign
jurisdictions, but certain information such as names, addresses, telephone numbers, credit card numbers and email
addresses are widely considered personally identifying. The scope of information collected over the Internet that is
considered personally identifying may become more expansive, and it is possible that current and future legislation
may apply to information that we currently collect without the explicit consent of Internet users. If information that
we collect and use without consent is considered to be personally identifying, our ability to collect and use this
information will be restricted and we will have to change our methods of operation.

Recently, the legislatures of several states including Utah, California, Arizona, Virginia, and Arkansas enacted
legislation designed to protect Internet users’ privacy by prohibiting certain kinds of downloadable software defined
as “spyware.” Similar legislation has been considered, or is being considered, in nearly all state legislatures and in
the U.S. House of Representatives. Such legislation, if it includes a broad definition of “spyware,” could restrict our
information collection methods. Any restriction or change to our information collection methods would cause us to
spend substantial money and time to make such changes and could decrease the amount and utility of the

information that we collect.

In addition, domestic and foreign governments are considering restricting the collection and use of Internet usage
data. Some privacy advocates argue that even anonymous data, individually or when aggregated, may reveal too
much information about Internet users. If governmental authorities were to follow privacy advocates’
recommendations and enact laws that limit our online profiling practices, we would likely have to obtain the express
consent, or opt-in, of an Internet user before we could collect, share, or use any of that user’s information. It might
not be possible to comply with all domestic and foreign governmental restrictions simultaneously. Any change to an
opt-in system of profiling would damage our ability to aggregate and utilize the information we currently collect
from Internet users and would reduce the amount and value of the information that we provide to customers. A
reduction in the value of our information might cause some existing customers to discontinue their use of our
services or discourage potential customers from subscribing to our services, which would reduce our revenue. We
would also need to expend considerable effort and resources, both human and financial, to develop new information
collection procedures to comply with an opt-in requirement. Even if we succeeded in developing new procedures,
we might be unable to convince Internet users to agree to our collection and use of their information. This would
negatively impact our revenue, growth and potential for expanding our business and could cause our stock price to

decline. ,

The success of our business depends on the continued growth of the Internet as a business tool and the growth
of the web analytics market.

Expansion in the sales of our services depends on the continued reliance on the Internet as a communications and
commerce platform for enterprises. The use of the Internet as a business tool could be adversely impacted by the
development or adoption of new standards and protocols to handle increased demands of Internet activity, security,
reliability, cost, ease-of-use, accessibility and quality-of-service. The performance of the Internet and its acceptance
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as a business tool has been harmed by viruses, worms, and similar malicious programs, and the Internet has
experienced a variety of outages and other delays as a result of damage to portions of its infrastructure. If, for any
reason, the Internet does not remain a widespread communications medium and commercial platform and business
processes do not continue to move online, the demand for our service would be significantly reduced, which would
harm our business.

In addition, the market for Internet user measurement and analysis services is new and rapidly evolving. In
particular, the market for outsourced, on-demand information services such as ours is relatively new and evolving.
We will not be able to sell our services or grow our business if the market for Internet user measurement and
analysis services does not grow or is not outsourced, or if on-demand services are not widely adopted.

Risks Related to the Securities Market and the Ownership of OQur Common Stock
Our stock price may be volatile and you may not be able to sell your shares at an attractive price.

Our common stock had not been publicly traded prior to our initial public offering, which was completed in
October 2004, and an active trading market may be difficult to sustain. We have not paid cash dividends since our
inception and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, investors will have to rely on
appreciation in our stock price and a liquid trading market in order to achieve a gain on their investment. The market
prices for securities of technology companies in general have been highly volatile and may continue to be highly
volatile in the future. The trading price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially as a result of one or more
of the following factors:

+ variations in our operating results;

+ announcements of technological innovations, new services or service enhancements or significant
agreements by us or by our competitors;

+ recruitment or departure of key personnel;

» changes in the estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by any securities analysts
that elect to follow our common stock;

» sales of our common stock, including sales by officers, directors and funds affiliated with them;

+ fluctuations in stock market prices and trading volumes of similar companies or of the markets generally;
+ market conditions in our industry, the industries of our customers and the economy as a whole; or

» economic and political factors, including wars, terrorism and political unrest,

We will require additional capital prior to April 2007 to satisfy our senior note obligations; and we might
require additional capital to support business growth; this capital might not be available on acceptable terms,
or at all.

We will need to raise at least $20.0 million in additional capital prior to April 2007 in order to satisfy our
obligations under the senior notes we issued in connection with our acquisition of Visual Sciences. We also intend to
continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to
business challenges, including the need to develop new services or enhance our existing services, enhance our
operating infrastructure and acquire competing or complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we will
need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds through further
issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any
new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our
common stock. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our
capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to
obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition, we may
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not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate
financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business
growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.

Future sales of our common stock by our stockholders may depress our stock price.

Our existing stockholders hold a substantial number of shares of our common stock that they generally are
currently able to sell in the public market. In particular, the former Avivo shareholders who received shares of our
common stock pursuant to the merger agreement with Avivo are generally able to sell in the public market, except
for those significant Avivo shareholders who entered into a stock transfer restriction agreement with us. The
remaining restrictions on transfer for those stockholders generally expire in late March 2006 and these stockholders
will be able to sell their shares of common stock in the public market pursuant to Rule 145 after such restrictions
lapse. Sales by our existing stockholders of a substantial number of shares, or the expectation that such sales may
occur, could significantly reduce the market price of our common stock. We have also registered the shares of our
common stock that are subject to outstanding stock options or reserved for issuance under our stock option plans,
which shares can also be freely sold in the public market upon issuance. In addition, certain stockholders have
rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their shares or to include their
shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or for other stockholders.

Moreover, certain of our stockholders have established trading plans under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, for the purpose of effecting sales of common stock, and
other employees and affiliates, including our directors and executive officers, may choose to establish similar plans
in the future. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause the
market price of our common stock to decline and could impair our ability to raise additional capital through equity
financings.

Our executive officers and directors and their affiliates may exercise influence over stockholder voting
matters in a manner that may not be in the best interest of all of our stockholders.

As of March 13, 2006, our executive officers and directors and entities affiliated with them beneficially owned,
in the aggregate, approximately 12% of our common stock. As a result, these stockholders may collectively be able
to influence matters requiring approval of our stockholders, including the election of directors and significant
corporate transactions. This concentration of ownership could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a
change of control of our company, even when such a change may be in the best interests of all stockholders, could
deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common stock as part of a sale of our
company or our assets and might affect the prevailing market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws or under Delaware law might
discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management and,
therefore, depress the trading price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the
trading price of our common stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or
changes in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. These provisions:

« establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board are elected at one time;

» provide that directors may only be removed “for cause” and only with the approval of the holders of 66 2/3%
of our outstanding voting stock;

*  require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and bylaws;

» authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could issue to increase the
number of outstanding shares to discourage a takeover attempt;




» prohibit stockholder action by written consent, requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of
our stockholders;

+ provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

» establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board or for proposing matters that
can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits
a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested”
stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested”
stockholder and which may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None
Item 2. Properties.

We currently lease approximately 61,000 square feet of office space located in San Diego, California under a
lease that expires in January 2013, of which we currently occupy approximately 30,000 square feet. We sublease the
unused space at such facility under two separate subleases, both of which expire in January 2007. We may not renew
one or more of those subleases and may begin using a portion of the subleased space for our operations upon the
expiration of the subleases. Exclusive of the subleases, the rent for this facility is approximately $1.8 million per
year.

We also lease approximately 8,250 square feet of office space located in San Bruno, California under a lease that
expires in November 2006. The rent for this facility is approximately $175,000 per year.

We also lease approximately 1,000 square feet of office space in the Netherlands, under a lease that expires in
June 2006. The rent for this facility is approximately $80,000 per vear.

As a result of the February 2006 merger with Visual Sciences, we also lease approximately 28,500 square feet of
office space located in Herndon, Virginia under a lease that expires in 2013. The rent for this facility is
approximately $706,000 per year.

We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current operations.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

On February 3, 2006, NetRatings, Inc., an internet media and market research company, filed a lawsuit against
us in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The suit alleges willful infringement of
United States Patent Nos. 5,675,510, 6,108,637, 6,115,680, 6,138,155, 6,763,386. In the complaint, NetRatings
seeks a preliminary and permanent injunction, unspecified monetary damages (compensatory and enhanced) and
recovery of its attorneys’ fees and costs. Qur answer to the complaint is due on March 24, 2006. Although there can
be no assurance that an unfavorable outcome in this matter would not have a material adverse effect on our
operating results, liquidity or financial position, we believe the claims made by NetRatings are without merit and
intend to vigorously defend the action. No trial date is currently set for this case.

On February 22, 2006, we filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
California charging NetRatings with willful infringement of United States Patent No. 6,393,479. The complaint
seeks a permanent injunction against continued infringement as well as monetary damages (compensatory and
enhanced) and recovery of our attorneys’ fees and costs. Given the nature of patent litigation, at the present time we
are unable to quantify the amount of remuneration we will ultimately seek in this proceeding or the likelihood of
recovering any portion of such remuneration once quantified. NetRatings’ answer to our complaint is due on April
14, 2006. No trial date is currently set for this case.
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From time to time, we are also involved in other routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of our business.
While the results of such litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the final outcome of such
matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of 2005.
PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market Information

Since September 28, 2004, our common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol
“WSSL.” Prior to such time, there was no public market for our common stock. The following table sets forth, for
the periods indicated, the high and low closing sale prices of our common stock as reported by Nasdaq, without
retail mark-up, mark-down or commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2004 High Low

Third Quarter (from September 28, 2004)......c..ociiimeiiiiirriie ettt eeese et res e sae e srasens $ 92585904
FOUIR QUATTET ..ottt ettt vttt st bstesvseve e ebeebensaeveesbensstaestsrasstsestsssataensasaeseaseessnss $ 14.01 $ 9.50
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2005 High Low

FAEST QUATTET ...viveriiiveeiite st etete ettt re et b sa b et ere st et e et e s s e st asaebessssaabessesasbessen s bassenesessase st sssasansseenen $ 1346 $ 10.76
SECONA QUATTEL ...o.vivieeeveieiecteti ettt e ettt ettt v et st ettt e st erassst et ebe st st en st enesteestsseasetessseenabenns $ 15108 995
THIEA QUAITET .oveiiiieiieeiec ettt e et e et ab e eaaeese s e creeebe s b e entasbessbesebesaressssetreesnestsesessnsesreessensss $ 19.10 § 13.63
FOUITN QUATTET ...eeiiiviiteeiiineriteeitere st ettt e stteaiee st e aasse st aestressteeateeesaeesabessses st nbsasssessnsaenseesbneasseenstens $ 20,60 § 15.27

As of March 13, 2006, there were approximately 75 holders of record of our common stock. This figure does not
reflect persons or entities that hold their stock in nominee or “street” name through various brokerage firms.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any
future earnings to finance the growth and development of our business and therefore do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of
the board of directors and will be dependent upon our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements,
general business condition and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

On May 4, 2005, we acquired Avivo in exchange for approximately $4.2 million in cash, 2,958,713 shares of our
common stock and options to purchase 164,434 shares of our common stock. These options will continue to vest
under the terms of Avivo’s stock option plan and the applicable vesting schedule set forth in individual option
grants. These options generally vest over five years and expire ten years from the grant date. The issuance of the
common stock was exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 3(a)(10) of such act.
The shares underlying the options were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a Registration Statement on
Form S-8 (File No. 333-124754) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10, 2005.

In November 2005, we issued a warrant to an outside consulting group to purchase 10,000 shares of our common
stock with an exercise price of $17.84. The warrant is exercisable, in whole or in part, during the term commencing
on September 5, 2007 and ending on September 5, 2010. The issuance of the warrant was exempt from registration
under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of such act.
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On February 1, 2006, we acquired Visual Sciences in exchange for $22.0 million in cash, 568,512 shares of our
common stock, warrants to purchase 1,082,923 shares of our common stock, which expire on August 1, 2007 and
have an exercise price of $18.4685 per share, and $20.0 million in aggregate principal amount of senior notes. In
connection with the transaction, we also granted, pursuant to our existing equity incentive plan, 189,507 shares of
restricted common stock to certain employees of Visual Sciences, which vest on January 30, 2007, and non-qualified
stock options to purchase 350,000 shares of our common stock to certain employees of Visual Sciences. The
issuance of the common stock, warrants to purchase common stock and senior notes was exempt from registration
under the Securities Act in reliance on Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated under such act. The shares of
restricted common stock and shares underlying the stock options were registered under the Securities Act pursuant
to a Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-119350) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on September 28, 2004.

The sale of these securities was made without general solicitation or advertising. No underwriters were involved
in connection with the sale of the securities referred to above.

Use of Proceeds from Sales of Registered Securities

Our initial public offering of common stock was effected through a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
Nos. 333-119516 and 333-119322) that was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 27, 2004. On October 1, 2004, 5,000,000 shares of common stock were sold on our behalf at an initial
public offering price of $8.50 per share for an aggregate offering price of $42.5 million. On October 26, 2004, in
connection with the full exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option, 750,000 additional shares of common
stock were sold on behalf of certain of our stockholders at the initial public offering price of $8.50 per share for an
aggregate offering price of approximately $6.4 miltlion. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of these
additional shares. ‘

We paid to the underwriters underwriting discounts and commissions totaling approximately $3.0 million in
connection with the offering. In addition, we incurred additional expenses of approximately $1.4 million in
connection with the offering, which when added to the underwriting discounts and commissions paid by us, amounts
to total estimated expenses of approximately $4.4 million. Thus, the net offering proceeds to us, after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses, were approximately $38.1 million. No
offering expenses were paid directly or indirectly to any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons
owning ten percent or more of any class of our equity securities or to any other affiliates.

As of December 31, 2005, we had used $16.75 million of the net proceeds from our initial public offering to
redeem all of the outstanding shares of our redeemable preferred stock. The Visual Sciences acquisition described
above utilized the remaining proceeds from the initial public offering.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The condensed consolidated financial and operating data set forth below should be read in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The condensed consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and
2003 and the condensed consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 are derived from the
audited consolidated financial statements that are included elsewhere in this annual report. The condensed
consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2002, and 2001 and the condensed
consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are derived from audited financial
statements that are not included in this annual report.
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As discussed elsewhere in this document, we acquired Avivo on May 4, 2005. Therefore, the condensed
consolidated statement of operations data for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 includes the results of
operations of Avivo beginning May 4, 2005 and the condensed consolidated balance sheet data includes the related
assets and liabilities of Avivo as of December 31, 2005.

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations Data (in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Revenues....cc.oovveviiencnncnccnnene $ 39,452 $ 22,602 $ 16,360 $ 13,570 § 14,447
Income (loss) from operations.............. 5,758 1,642 (2,608) (1,887) (3,780)
(Benefit from) Provision for income

TAXES, c.veverrenerenrcrieinrenente e ne (3,073) 46 (31) {19 (8)
Net income (10S8)....cceeveniriicrcrieiinnnnee 9,659 1,768 (2,078) (2,625) (4,663)
Net income (loss) attributable to

common stockholders ... 9,659 (947) (3,644) (3,992) (6,317)
Net income (loss) per share

attributable to common

stockholders:

DASIC vt 0.56 (0.13) (0.91) (1.05) (1.67)

diluted ....ooeovvieiniiiceree 0.51 (0.13) (0.91) (1.05) (1.67)
Weighted-average shares used in

computing per share amount:

DASIC .o 17,231,411 7,300,809 4,001,979 3,806,550 3,784,319

diluted ....oovrveiinieieeen e 18,774,978 7,300,809 4,001,979 3,806,550 3,784,319

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Data (in thousands)

As of December 31,

2008 2004 2003 2002 2001

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable

SECULILIES .vveuvrerrrreererererereeersreeesssaessseseansesserssnanes $ 34956 § 22,033 $§ 5690 § 4,563 § 4,704
Working capital ...c..cceoeveeceroinierenninie e 24,692 17,664 2,679 2,740 4,210
TOtal ASSELS c.veveeiiiiirieiee v etsee e sre e s eans 87,743 37,618 9,917 8,605 20,685
Redeemable preferred stock ....oovceireirccrinnroncnnnnnnns — — 14,056 12,519 11,181
Convertible redeemable preferred stock..........cco..... — — 28,837 30,008 31,266
Accumulated deficit........coovvinineninieciniie e (44,609) (54,268)  (56,036)  (53,958)  (51,333)

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit).... § 69,816 $ 28,145 § (39,179) $ (38.273) $ (35,945)
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various
Jactors, including those set forth above under “Item 14 Risk Factors.” This Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and
related notes for the year ended December 31, 2005, which are included elsewhere in this annual report.

Overview

We are a leading provider of on-demand and in-house digital marketing and customer analysis solutions. Our
Active Marketing Suite consists of web analytics, website search, web content management, call center analysis and
e-mail analytics. Our Active Marketing Suite will also include our on-demand keyword bid management application
that will enable search engine marketers to actively manage pay-per-click bids from a single, easy-to-use interface
after its expected release later in 2006. Customers use our services to understand how Internet users respond to
website design and content, online marketing campaigns and e-commerce offerings and to manage the content of
their web pages and make them searchable. As a result, our customers can make more effective marketing and
business decisions and improve the merchandising, sales, support, design and functionality of their websites, thereby
improving their return on investment on marketing dollars spent.
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We derive most of our revenue from HBX, our web analytics application. Web analytics refers to the collection,
analysis and reporting of information about Internet user activity. Our HBX application collects data from web
browsers, processes that data and delivers analytic reports of online behavior to our customers on demand, allowing
them to improve their websites and their online marketing campaigns.

We deliver our HBX, site search and web content management services on-demand over the Internet using
secure, proprietary and scalable applications and system architectures. This on-demand delivery model allows us to
concurrently serve a large number of customers and to efficiently distribute the workload across our networks of
servers. Our HBX technology is relatively straightforward to implement for most customers, which allows these
customers to avoid expensive, up-front hardware expenses and software license fees and to benefit from lower
administration costs compared to traditional software licensing. Our analytic reporting and data collection processes
can be integrated with third-party applications through our published APIs and through standard-format data feeds. -

Our services are offered by subscription agreements, typically with terms of one to three years. As of December
31, 2005, we had over 1,100 customers purchasing services from our Active Marketing Suite. Our direct sales force
sells our services to a broad range of organizations in many industries including sports and entertainment, news,
retail, financial services, travel, technology, manufacturing, telecommunications and education. Our top ten
customers by revenue in 2005 were Allstate Insurance, Best Buy Corporation, British Sky Broadcasting, Cisco,
Comcast.net, FedEx Corporate Services, Fox Sports.com, Nokia, PC World Communication and the Walt Disney
Internet Group. None of our customers individually accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2005 or December 31, 2004, The Walt Disney Internet Group accounted for 14% of our total
revenue in the year ended December 31, 2003.

We generated approximately 14%, 16% and 11% of revenue, respectively, from subsidiaries located outside the
United State for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We anticipate that the percentage
of revenue from international operations will remain consistent or grow as we increase our direct sales force and
build brand awareness in foreign markets. We have released foreign language versions of our HBX service to
facilitate use in certain foreign markets. Although we have not entered into any agreement or understanding for an
international acquisition, we have evaluated international acquisition opportunities in the past and will continue to
do so in the future.

Sources of Revenues

We currently derive substantially all of our revenues from fees associated with our subscription services. The
substantial majority of these revenues are generated from our HBX services. These services are provided by
subscription to customers for a fee that is based on the number of websites, page views and transactions monitored
by our services. The terms of our subscription agreements are generally one to three years. Our HBX subscription
agreements also typically include professional services, such as consulting, education and implementation services
and training. In addition, we generate revenues from subscriptions to our HitBox Professional service, which is
focused on providing web analytics to small and medium sized businesses.

We have discontinued offering our web analytics services in exchange for advertising revenue and no longer
earn any advertising revenue from our web analytics services. In future periods, we anticipate consolidated revenue
from advertising to increase as a result of our acquisition of Avivo and the revenue generated from Avivo’s free
website search services. However, we do not expect these advertising revenues to increase at the same rate as our
subscription revenues in future periods.

As discussed elsewhere in this Form 10-K, we merged with Visual Sciences in February 2006. Visual Sciences
develops and markets software, which can collect and incorporate raw data, process such data into business
information and present the resulting business information in easy to understand and use graphical reports. In
addition to software licenses, Visual Sciences sells related maintenance agreements, technical support and training
and professional services. The majority of their revenue is derived from the sale of software license agreements. The
terms of the license agreements are generally perpetual in nature.
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Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses
Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues primarily consists of expenses related to running our network infrastructure, including Internet
connectivity, co-location and data storage, depreciation associated with computer equipment, web application
development activities, salaries and related expenses for network personnel, allocated overhead and amortization
associated with capitalized software. We allocate overhead such as rent and occupancy charges, employee benefit
costs and non-network related depreciation expense to all departments based on headcount. As a result, general
overhead expenses are reflected in our cost of revenues and each operating expense category. Cost of revenues also
includes professional services provided both on implementation of our software and on an on-going basis as we
advise our customers how to optimize the use of our products.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses represent our largest operating expense category and consist primarily of salaries
and related expenses for our sales and marketing staff. Sales and marketing expenses include commissions, travel
and entertainment, marketing programs, including advertising, events, corporate communications and other brand-
building and product-marketing expenses, and allocated overhead. We plan to increase our number of direct sales
and marketing personnel to expand our domestic and international sales and marketing activities. We also plan to
sponsor additional marketing events and programs to build brand awareness. We expect that sales and marketing
expenses will continue to increase as we hire additional sales and marketing personnel and increase our marketing
activities.

Technology Development Expenses

Technology development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for our software engineers
and product development and quality assurance personnel, as well as other costs related to the development and
enhancement of existing services and allocated overhead. We have historically focused our research and
development efforts on enhancing our core technology, as well as improving the usability and accessibility of
information within our web analytics subscription services. We expect that research and development expenses will
increase as we further enhance our core technology and services and develop technologies for new service offerings.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related expenses for executive, finance and
accounting, legal, human resources and management information systems personnel, professional fees, other
corporate expenses and allocated overhead. We expect that general and administrative expenses will increase as we
continue to add personnel as we expand our business and incur additional expenses to meet compliance
requirements associated with operating as a public company.

Stock-Based Compensation Expenses

Stock-based compensation expenses result from options and warrants issued to employees and directors in
situations where there is an excess of the fair value of our common stock at the date of grant over the amount an
employee or director must pay to acquire the stock. These expenses have been significant and are reflected in our
consolidated financial results. On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R. As a result, we expect stock-based
compensation expense to increase and the unearned stock-based compensation expense balance to be reflected as a
component of additional paid in capital. We are continuing to finalize our evaluation of the impact that the adoption
of this rule will have on our results of operations and we expect that it will result in a material increase in our
compensation expense.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

This “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” is based on our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared using accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates
and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and expense and related disclosures. On an on-
going basis, we evaluate estimates, including those related to bad debts, depreciation and life of developed software,
fixed assets and impairment of intangible and tangible assets. These estimates are based on historical experience and
on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Critical accounting policies are those that, in management’s view, are most important in the portrayal of our
financial condition and results of operations and include allowance for doubtful accounts, accounting for stock-
based compensation, accounting for business combinations, impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill and
income taxes. Our critical accounting policies are disclosed in the footnotes to the consolidated financial statements.
Those critical accounting policies that require significant judgments and estimates are:

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from customers’ inability to pay
us. We calculate this provision based on our historical experience and for specific customers that, in our opinion, are
likely to default on our receivables from them. In order to identify these customers, we perform ongoing reviews of
all customers that have breached their payment terms, as well as those that have filed for bankruptcy or for whom
information has become available indicating a significant risk of non-recoverability. In addition, we have
experienced significant growth in customers; therefore, we have less payment history to rely on with these
customers. We rely on historical trends of bad debt as a percentage of total revenue and apply these percentages to
the accounts receivable associated with new customers and evaluate these customers over time. To the extent our
future collections experience differs from our assumptions based on historical trends and our past experience, the
amount of our bad debt and allowance recorded may be different.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We measure compensation expenses for our employee and director stock-based compensation plans using the
intrinsic vafue method. Accordingly, compensation expense for stock options is measured as the excess, if any, of
the fair value of our common stock at the date of grant over the amount an employee or director must pay to acquire
the stock. Stock-based compensation is amortized over the related vesting periods using an accelerated method.
Prior to our initial public offering on October 1, 2004, we considered internal and external factors to assist in our
determination of the fair value of our common stock. Internal factors include the success of our sales efforts,
customer retention and overall profitability. External factors consist of market conditions and comparable public
companies. In addition to considering the factors described above, in connection with preparing our 2003 financial
statements we obtained an independent valuation as of April 1, 2003 to assist us in setting the fair value of our
common stock to determine the amount of stock-based compensation expenses to be recorded at specific grant dates;
however, we are responsible for all fair values used in preparing our consolidated financial statements. We made
assumptions and estimates in the preparation of our valuation, including assumptions and estimates related to
projected cash flows, discount rates, comparable market value multiples, the value of preferences associated with
our preferred stock, the effect that those preferences had on the value of our common stock, and the likelihood at
various points in time of certain transactions taking place, such as a public offering, a sale of our company, raising
additional private financing or a liguidation. If we had made different estimates and assumptions our conclusions
and the related stock-based compensation recorded may have been different.

As of December 31, 2005, we had an aggregate of $630,000 of unearned stock-based compensation expenses
remaining to be amortized in future periods. On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R. As a result, we
expect stock-based compensation expense to increase and the unearned stock-based compensation expense balance
to be reflected as a component of additional paid in capital. We are continuing to finalize our evaluation of the
impact that the adoption of this rule will have on our results of operations and we expect that it will result in a
material increase in our compensation expenses.
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Business Combinations

When we acquire businesses, we allocate the purchase price to tangible assets and liabilities acquired and
identifiable intangible assets based on all information available to management at the time. Any residual purchase
price is recorded as goodwill. The allocation of the purchase price requires management to make significant
estimates in determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, especially with respect to
intangible assets. These estimates are based on a combination of information which may include historical
experience and information obtained from the management of the acquired companies, cash flows that an asset is
expected to generate in the future, the fair value of the underlying asset based on similar circumstances in similar
industries, cost savings expected to be derived from acquiring an asset and valuations assigned by valuation
specialists using proprietary valuation models. These estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. In
addition, unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which may affect the accuracy or validity of such
estimates.

Impairments of Long-lived Assets and Goodwill

We account for long-lived assets, excluding goodwill, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards, or SFAS, No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We assesses
potential impairment to our long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying
amount of the long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived
asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to resuit from the use and
eventual disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related
asset and a charge to operating results.

We account for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives be tested for impairment at least annually. SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable
useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for impairment in accordance
with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We test goodwill for
impairment annually, in the second quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if events and circumstances
warrant.

Income Taxes

We make estimates to determine our current provision for income taxes, as well as deferred tax assets and
liabilities, income taxes payable and any valuation allowances. Our estimates related to our current provision for
income taxes are based on current tax laws. Changes in tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws could impact the
amounts provided for income taxes in our financial statements. We assess the likelihood that we will be able to
recover our deferred tax assets. Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent upon future taxable income as
well as our use of prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. Our estimates regarding future profitability may
change due to future market and industry conditions, changes in tax laws and other factors. We consider all available
evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with
estimates of future taxable income, changes in tax laws and ongoing prudent and feasible profits. To the extent we
believe it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of our net deferred tax assets will not be realized, we
establish a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets. To the extent we establish or change a valuation
allowance in a period, we reflect the change with a corresponding increase or decrease to our tax provision in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations.




Results of Operations

The following table presents our selected consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of our total
revenues for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Revenues
SUDSCEIPHONS. ..ot seeree et ere et e et sre b renaens 96% 99% 96%
AVETHSING 1vevievererieicenieccere ettt er et se st reeseas 4% 1% 4%
TOtal FEVENUES ...ttt 100% 100% 100%
Cost of revenues
COSt Of TEVENUE ...ttt et s e s e s sens 17% 15% 20%
Amortization of Itangibles .......cccvrr v 1% 0% 0%
Stock-based COMPENSAtION. ......cerivrererierirrrirererreeeeeneerae e 0% 0% 0%
Total cost Of TEVENUES......coceireeiiiieiicircce e 18% 15% 20%
GTOSS PIOTit. ettt n s s eene 82% 85% 80%
Operating expenses
Sales and MAarketing......cccocvvrviviereeiierresieeree e reeseerteesieeraeseeessaeserans 37% 43% 44%
Technology development..........cccvveririvieecerrevenerreeerere s srreseesaresenas 12% 17% 21%
General and adminiStrative ..c..oco.eeeeecieecrnererereinrennnrsenessrrenrens 14% 15% 23%
Amortization of intangibles .......cccccvcvriviiciviin e e 3% 0% 0%
Stock-based cOmMPenSation.......coovveieieerieiinrnenie e niee e e 2% 4% 8%
Total Operating eXpPenSses ... .cocccvverriirercermrerrmareresriereressnensssorercas 68% 79% 96%
Income (10ss) from OPErations.......c..cceevvereienrireneinineniiiceecceceene e 14% 6% -16%
INTETESE EXPENSE. .ot euei ittt ettt ee s et ba s se et sbaare b 0% 0% 0%
INtErESt INCOME....eveuirereiiriricriersrcerirnseerrrnre st rescserenrserenssssetenesesresasssnes 2% 1% 0%
OLher @XPENSE ...veuveveriereririirercrierrerreie e reeri e s st st seeeeseaeeemseaeesens 0% 0% 3%
Income (loss) before benefit from INCOME tAXES...ccvvverierreiieneinreinrereene 16% 7% -13%
Benefit from INCOME tAXES.......overerireerrrrereniarerenirierennsrererersesesmssssoresssseses -8% 0% 0%
Net INCOME (J0SS).eevirerierirerririreree ettt 24% 7% -13%
Constructive dividend on redemption of redeemable preferred stock ..... 0% -6% 0%
Accretion of discount on redeemable preferred stock .....o.ocevvirveecennene. 0% -6% -10%
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders...........cocoveeenn.n. 24% -5% -23%

Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
Revenues

Total revenues increased 75% to $39.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $22.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004,

Subscription Revenues. Subscription revenues increased 68% to $37.7 million, or 96% of total revenues, for the
year ended December 31, 2005 from $22.5 million, or 99% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2004.
The increase in subscription revenues over the previous year was primarily the result of increasing the number of
new customers for our services to over 1,100 as of December 31, 2005 from approximately 650 as of December 31,
2004, which resulted from expanding our sales staff and increasing our product breadth and reach. The inclusion of
subscription revenue from Avivo, which was acquired in May 2005, also contributed to the increase. Deferred
revenues increased 100% to $12.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $6.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004. Slightly offsetting the increase in revenue was the negative foreign currency translation
impact due to an approximate 13% decline of the U.S. Dollar in relation to the Euro.

Advertising Revenues. Advertising revenues increased to $1.7 million, or 4% of total revenues, for the year

ended December 31, 2005, from $126,000, or 1% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2004. This
increase was due to the acquisition of Avivo and the inclusion of its advertising revenue beginning May 4, 2005.
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Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased 104% to $6.8 million, or 17% of total revenues, for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $3.3 million, or 15% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2004. This
increase primarily resulted from an overall increase in headcount, a $1.4 milfion increase in salaries, a $387,000
increase in consulting work, a $256,000 increase in bonuses and employee-related costs associated with the
expansion of our professional services department and an increase in costs associated with network personnel. In
addition, we incurred higher utility costs and depreciation expense. Cost of revenue also increased as a result of the
Avivo acquisition. Specifically, we recognized $202,000 in amortization of intangibles related to the acquisition of
Avivo. Cost of revenue may continue to increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue in future periods
because the professional services required to support implementation for our search and content solutions is higher
than for HBX.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses increased 49% to $14.5 million, or 37% of total
revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $9.7 million, or 43% of total revenues, for the year ended
December 31, 2004. This $4.8 million increase was primarily attributable to increased salaries and wages and related
employee benefits for additional sales and marketing personnel of $2.4 million and increased sales commissions and
bonuses of $1.2 million related to increased revenue. The increase in sales and marketing personnel and number of
customers contributed to higher travel, lodging, communication and employee event costs in the amount of
approximately $582,000. Additionally, we also incurred higher marketing costs specifically related to our product
user forum held in November 2005. The acquisition of Avivo also added to the increase. Specifically, we recognized
$1.2 million in amortization of customer related intangibles associated with the acquisition of Avivo. As our
customer base grows and our company expands, we will continue to hire additional sales and customer support
personnel in future periods.

Technology Development Expenses. Research and development expenses increased 23% to $4.6 million, or 12%
of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $3.8 million, or 17% of total revenues, for the year
ended December 31, 2004. This $800,000 increase was primarily the result of higher salaries and wages and related
employee benefit costs of $2.0 million and higher depreciation expense partially offset by the capitalization of $1.2
million of internally developed new product software in 2005. This compares to $185,000 of internally developed
new product software costs capitalized during 2004. We expect that technology development expenses will continue
to increase in future periods as we add engineering resources and commence amortization of newly capitalized
internally developed product software. Additionally, we expect that the amount of new software development costs
capitalized will decrease in future quarters as we launch our new keyword bid management solution, which is
expected to occur later in 2006.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses increased 73% to $5.7 million, or
14% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $3.3 million, or 15% of total revenues, for the
year ended December 31, 2004. This $2.4 million increase was largely due to additional professional fees for
accounting and legal services of $1.1 million associated with being a public company, including the costs we
incurred in 2005 associated with our Sarbanes-Oxley compliance project, an overall increase of $1.0 million in
salaries and wages and an increase in certain insurance coverage. The acquisition of Avivo also added to the
increase. We expect general and administrative expenses to increase as we add headcount and incur additional
accounting and legal costs related to operating as a public company, including the costs associated with sustaining
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance and additional costs associated with integrating acquired companies.

Stock-Based Compensation Expenses

Stock-based compensation expenses increased 8% to $940,000, or 2% of total revenues, for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $867,000, or 4% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2004. In 2005 and in
prior periods, we measured compensation expense using the intrinsic value method. Accordingly, compensation
expense for stock options was measured as the excess, if any, of the fair value of our common stock at the date of
grant over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. Total unamortized stock based compensation was
$630,000 and $779,000 as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No.
123R. As a result, we expect stock-based compensation expense to increase and the unearned stock-based
compensation expense balance to be reflected as a component of additional paid in capital. We are continuing to
finalize our evaluation of the impact that the adoption of this rule will have on our results of operations and we
expect that it will result in a material increase in our compensation expenses.




Other Income, Net

Other income, net, increased to $828,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $172,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2004. The increase was driven by an increase in net interest income earned on proceeds from
our initial public offering in October 2004. As of December 31, 2005, we had $20.0 million of cash and cash
equivalents, $11.7 million in short-term investments, $3.3 million in long-term investments, and $24.7 million in
working capital, as compared to $5.7 million of cash and cash equivalents, $16.3 million in short-term investments,
$8.7 million in long-term investments and $17.7 million in working capital as of December 31, 2004.

Benefit from Income Taxes

The benefit from income taxes of $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily resulted from the
release of the valuation allowance we had recorded against our deferred tax assets. The net deferred tax assets relate
to our accumulated net operating loss carryforwards. As a result of the acquisition of Avivo and prior ownership
changes, these net deferred tax assets will be limited in use on an annual basis pursuant to Internal Revenue Code
Section 382. As we believe it is more-likely-than-not that our net deferred tax assets will ultimately be recovered,
we released our valuation allowance in 2005.

Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
Revenues

Total revenues increased 38% to $22.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $16.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2003,

Subscription Revenues. Subscription revenues increased 43% to $22.5 million, or 99% of total revenues, for the
year ended December 31, 2004 from $15.7 million, or 96% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2003.
The increase in subscription revenues over the previous year was primarily the result of increasing the number of
new customers for our services, which resulted from our decision to increase the number of direct sales personnel. A
renewed focus on customer service that resulted in lower customer attrition, higher retention rates and increased use
of our services by existing customers also contributed to the increase in subscription revenues. Deferred revenues
increased 64% to $6.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $3.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Deferred revenues reflect invoices rendered or cash received on subscription agreements for
which revenues have not yet been recognized.

Advertising Revenues. Advertising revenues declined to $126,000, or 1% of total revenues, for the year ended
December 31, 2004, from $682,000, or 4% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2003. This decrease
was due to our decision to stop providing our free web analytics service that generated advertising revenues.

Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased 3% to $3.3 million, or 15% of total revenues, for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from $3.2 million, or 20% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2003. This
increase primarily resulted from the addition of personnel in our professional services group, who provide advanced
training and optimization services for HBX customers. Our professional services cost increased to $655,000 in 2004
from $261,000 in 2003. Our cost of revenues, as a percentage of revenues, declined as we reduced the costs of
running our data center. Some of these costs include bandwidth, which declined $85,000, data center rent, which
declined $130,000, and depreciation, which declined $207,000 resulting from the lower market price of servers and
increased server capacity.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses increased 34% to $9.7 million, or 43% of total
revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $7.3 million, or 44% of total revenues, for the year ended
December 31, 2003. This was primarily attributable to salaries for additional sales and marketing personnel and
increased sales commissions related to increased revenues and customers. Salaries and wages increased $702,000,
travel and entertainment increased $384,000 and bonus and commissions increased $515,000.
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Technology Development Expenses. Research and development expenses increased 11% to $3.8 million, or 17%
of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $3.4 million, or 21% of total revenues, for the year
ended December 31, 2003. This increase was primarily a result of increased salary expense of $201,000 and other
costs associated with the development of our HBX service.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased 12% to $3.3 million, or
15% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $3.8 million, or 23% of total revenues, for the
year ended December 31, 2003. The decrease was primarily attributable to $339,000 of expense in connection with
the amendment of a sublease at our corporate facility in October 2003 as well as a severance payment of $375,000
related to the departure of our former chief executive officer and a one-time signing bonus of $100,000 related to the
hiring of our new chief executive officer paid in 2003. A reduction in our bad debt expense was partially associated
with the release of $77,000 of the valuation allowance placed on customer receivables that were subsequently
collected during the fourth quarter of 2004. Our recurring general and administrative costs increased during 2004,
the result of additional costs associated with our operation as a public company, which included hiring a chief
financial officer, and additional costs for directors’ and officers’ insurance, accounting fees and legal fees.

Stock-Based Compensation Expenses

Stock-based compensation expenses decreased by 35% to $867,000, or 4% of total revenues, for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from $1.3 million, or 8% of total revenues, for the year ended December 31, 2003. Stock-based
compensation expenses for the year ended December 31, 2004 included $522,000 associated with a warrant and
restricted stock grants to our chief executive officer and our former general counsel. In comparison, stock-based
compensation expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 included $1.0 million for the warrant and restricted
stock grants to our chief executive officer and former general counsel and $132,000 associated with a modification
of a stock option of our former chief executive officer that required us to record stock-based compensation expense
for the difference between the exercise price and the fair value of the stock at the time the former chief executive
officer’s option was amended. The option was amended to extend the amount of time that the former chief executive
officer was allowed to exercise the option following his departure from the company.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net, decreased to $172,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $499,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2003. This decrease was primarily attributable to the payment of a one-time license fee in 2003
that was recorded in other income, which resulted in $526,000 in other income being recorded in the fourth quarter
of 2003. Other income for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 included net interest income of $10,000 and
$167,000, respectively. The increase in net interest income in 2004 was due to the repayment of our borrowings on a
line of credit in July 2003 and the interest earned on our cash balances, which increased substantially after the
completion of our initial public offering at the beginning of October 2004.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes of $46,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004 primarily related to current
taxes associated with our foreign operations and alternative minimum tax associated with our United States
operations offset by a benefit resulting from the establishment of our foreign deferred assets. At December 31, 2004,
we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $12.8 million and state net operating loss
carryforwards of approximately $5.9 million. The federal net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2019
and state operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2006, if not realized. A change in control occurred in
connection with our October 2004 initial public offering under the provisions of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code, which will limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that can be used annually in the future to
offset taxable income. However, based on the annual limitation available and projected taxable income, it is not
expected that the change in ownership will impact our cash tax payments. As of December 31, 2004, we had a full
valuation allowance placed on our deferred tax assets due to our relatively short history of profitability. This
valuation allowance will be evaluated each reporting period to determine whether these deferred tax assets are more
likely then not to be utilized in the near future.
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Net Operating Losses

At December 31, 2005, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $30.1 million and state
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $18.0 million, which are available to offset future taxable income.
The federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2020. The state net operating loss carryforwards
will begin to expire in 2006.

In 2003, net deferred tax assets, before valuation allowance, increased approximately $3.3 million primarily due
to the recognition of approximately $4.6 million of net deferred tax assets in connection with the acquisition of
Avivo during May 2005. Avivo’s net deferred tax assets primarily represent net operating loss carryforwards that
will be limited in use on an annual basis pursuant to Section 382. Our net deferred tax assets also consist of
accumulated net operating losses which are also subject to Section 382 limitations as a result of prior ownership
changes. The combined deferred tax assets represent the amounts expected to be realized before expiration.

We assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets. We consider all available
evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with
estimates of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible profits. As a result of our analysis of all
available evidence, both positive and negative, we believe it is more-likely-than-not that our net deferred tax assets
will ultimately be recovered and, accordingly, released the valuation allowance in the year ended December 31,
2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

As of December 31, 2005, we had $20.0 million of cash and cash equivalents, $11.7 million in short-term
investments, $3.3 million in long-term investments, and $24.7 million in working capital, as compared to $5.7
million of cash and cash equivalents, $16.3 million in short-term investments, $8.7 million in long-term investments
and $17.7 million in working capital as of December 31, 2004,

As described below, in February 2006 we used $22.0 million of our cash to pay a portion of the purchase price in
connection with our acquisition of Visual Sciences. Also in connection with that acquisition, we issued $20.0
million in aggregate principal amount of senior notes. The senior notes mature on August 1, 2007. The senior notes
accrue cash pay interest at a rate of 4% per annum, payable at maturity or on certain earlier repayment or
prepayment dates. The senior notes are subject to mandatory repayment, on demand, at any time after April 1, 2007
or upon certain underwritten public offerings of our common stock and must be repaid if we incur indebtedness that
ranks senior or pari passu with the priority of payment attributable to the indebtedness represented by the senior
notes, subject to certain permitted indebtedness. We have the right to prepay the senior notes at any time without
premium or penalty.

Our cash, cash equivalents and investments, combined with our positive cash flow from operating activities, are
our principel sources of liquidity. We will likely need to raise additional debt or equity capital which, together with
the cash we expect to generate from operating activities, would then allow us to pay off the $20.0 million in
aggregate principal amount of our senior notes commencing in April 2007. Other than the additional capital required
to satisfy the senior notes, we believe our cash balances and the cash flows generated by operating activities will be
sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months.

Visual Sciences Acquisition. On February 1, 2006, we acquired Visual Sciences in exchange for $22.0 million in
cash, 568,512 shares of our common stock, warrants to purchase 1,082,923 shares of our common stock, which
expire on August 1, 2007 and have an exercise price of $18.4685 per share, and $20.0 million in aggregate principal
amount of senior notes. In connection with the transaction, we also granted, pursuant to our existing equity incentive
plan, 189,507 shares of restricted common stock to certain employees of Visual Sciences, which vest on January 39,
2007, and non-qualified stock options to purchase 350,000 shares of our common stock to certain employees of
Visual Sciences. Please see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this annual
report for further details regarding our acquisition of Visual Sciences.
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Avivo Acquisition. On May 4, 2005, we completed the acquisition of Avivo, a provider of on-demand website
search and content solutions. We paid approximately $4.2 million in cash, and issued 2,958,713 shares of common
stock and options to purchase 164,434 shares of common stock, to acquire Avivo. Approximately $0.8 million of the
$4.2 million total cash consideration and approximately 592,000 of the 2,958,713 shares of common stock have
been deposited in escrow to secure indemnification obligations of Avivo and possible adjustments to the purchase
price.

Initial Public Offering of Common Stock. On October 1, 2004, we completed the sale of 5,000,000 shares of our
common stock at an initial offering price to the public of $8.50 per share, resuiting in $42.5 million of gross
proceeds to the company. After deducting the underwriting discount of $3.0 million and offering expenses of $1.4
million, our net proceeds from the initial public offering were $38.1 million. On October 26, 2004, in connection
with the full exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option, 750,000 additional shares of common stock were
sold to the public on behalf of certain selling stockholders at a price of $8.50 per share. We did not receive any of
the $6.4 million in gross proceeds from the sale of these additional shares by the selling stockholders. We used
$16.75 million of our net proceeds from the initial public offering to redeem all of our outstanding redeemable
preferred stock. We used the remaining proceeds from our initial public offering to pay the cash portion of the
purchase price for our acquisition of Visual Sciences described above.

Cash Flows (in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004 2003
Net cash provided by (used in)
OPErating ACHVITIES ...vveriieiiiieicte ettt ees st er sttt st etseessaerens ereasenes $ 7887 § 4,703 $ 2,352
INVESHING ACHIVITIES ...evveereiiiriiieriii et resee et e e te e st ere s e e vasresanesbannes 5,645 (26,437) (739)
FINancing actiVItIES ......ceueerivrvierrirreeinrerieeseene et sretetcre s rinens e senesessessesnes 827 21,749 (642)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ........ccocvvveveccnennie e (101) 5 156
Net change in cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS ........ccoiveeieieeiiirineeieee e $ 14258 $ 20 § 1,127

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Net cash
provided by operating activities consisted primarily of $9.7 million in net income and changes in working capital,
including a $3.2 million increase in deferred revenues related to our increased customer base and a $1.3 million
increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses due primarily to increased fees from our independent public
auditors. Non cash adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities included add
backs of $2.7 million and $1.0 million for depreciation and amortization and stock-based compensation,
respectively. Those increases to net cash provided by operating activities were partially offset by a $3.6 million
increase in accounts receivable which compares to our increase in deferred revenue, a $3.0 million increase in
prepaid expenses and other assets and a $3.3 million increase in deferred tax assets.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Net cash
provided by operating activities consisted primarily of a $2.4 million increase in deferred revenues, an $829,000
increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and the add-back of non-cash charges for depreciation and
amortization and stock-based compensation of $1.0 million and $882,000, respectively. This was partially offset by
a $1.5 million increase in accounts receivable.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $2.4 million. Net cash
provided by operating activities consisted primarily of a $1.8 million increase in deferred revenues and a $464,000
increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and the add back of non-cash charges for depreciation and
amortization and stock-based compensation of $1.2 million and $1.3 million, respectively. This was also offset, to a
lesser extent than 2004, by an increase in accounts receivable.




Investing Activities

Net cash provided from investment activities totaled $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Net
cash provided from investment activities is attributable to the maturity of investments, partially offset by capital
expenditures of $1.5 million and the $2.7 million of net cash used in the acquisition of Avivo.

Cash used in investing activities totaled $26.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This included $1.4
million for capital expenditures and a net cash outflow of $25.0 million for the purchase of marketable securities.

Cash used in investing activities totaled $739,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003, which consisted
entirely of capital expenditures.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $827,000 in the year ended December 31, 2005, The exercise of stock
options of $974,000, partially offset by payments on capital leases and a note contributed to this amount,

Cash provided by financing activities was $21.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This consisted of
$38.1 million in net proceeds from our initial public offering offset by the $16.75 million redemption of our
redeemable preferred stock. The exercise of stock options and warrants also contributed cash during 2004.

Cash used for financing during 2003 was $642,000. The majority of this was attributable to the repayment of our
line of credit.

Factors That May Affect Future Financial Condition And Liquidity

Our principal commitments consist of our $20 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes due not later
than August 1, 2007, and our obligations under operating leases for office space, computer equipment and furniture
and fixtures. Our capital lease obligations for furniture and computer equipment are approximately $173,000 in the
aggregate with the longest term expiring in 2009. As these capital lease amounts are relatively small, they do not
materijally affect our overall liquidity.

The following table summarizes our long-term contractual obligations, net of sublease income, as of December
31, 2005, and does not reflect our $20 million of senior notes which were issued in February 2006:

Payments Due by Period
More
Less than 1-3 4-5 than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years S Years
(in thousands)
Capital lease obligations.......occoveveverierrereciriecenecenerreenins $ 173 § 83 $§ 65 % 25 &8 —
Operating lease 0bHEations........coveerererrecrererinenniee e $ 12452 3 866 $ 3,585 $ 3,813 § 4,188

We anticipate that our future capital uses and requirements will depend on a variety of factors. These factors
include but are not limited 1o the following:

» the costs of serving more customers;

+ the costs of our network infrastructure;

» the costs of our research and development activities to improve our service offerings; and
» the extent to which we acquire or invest in other technologies and businesses.

Other than the additional capital required to satisfy our senior note obligations, we believe that our current cash,
cash equivzalents and short-term investments, combined with our positive cash flow from operating activities, will be
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sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months. We
believe that we will have access to sufficient liquidity to fund our business and meet our senior note and contractual
lease obligations over a period beyond the next 12 months. However, we will likely need to raise additional debt or
equity capital prior to April 2007 to help us satisfy our senior note obligations, and we may need to raise additional
funds in the future if we pursue acquisitions or investments in competing or complementary businesses or
technologies or experience unanticipated operating losses. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity
or convertible securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. We may not be able to obtain additional debt or
equity financing on acceptable terms, or at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2005 and for all periods presented, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated
entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities,
which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. Other than our operating leases for office space and computer equipment,
which are described above, we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing arrangements. In addition, we do not
engage in trading activities involving non-exchange traded contracts. Therefore, we are not materially exposed to
any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in these relationships.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates, particularly changes in the Euro. We analyze our exposure to currency fluctuations and may engage in
financial hedging techniques in the future to reduce the effect of these potential fluctuations. We have not entered
into any hedging contracts to date since exchange rate fluctuations have had little impact on our operating results
and cash flows. The majority of our subscription agreements are denominated in U.S. dollars. To date, our foreign
revenues have been primarily in Euros. We generated approximately 14%, 16% and 11% of total revenues from
customers in Europe for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We had unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short and long-term marketable securities totaling $35.0 million
and $30.7 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. These amounts were invested primarily in money
market funds. The unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities are held for working
capital purposes. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Due to the short-term nature
of these investments, we believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of our
investment portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however, will reduce future
investment income.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The Condensed Consolidated Quarterly Financial Data have been derived from our unaudited consolidated
interim financial statements which, in our opinion, have been prepared on substantially the same basis as the audited
consolidated financial statements contained herein and include all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair
presentation of the financial information for the periods presented. These unaudited quarterly results should be read
in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this
annual report. The operating results in any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected
for any future period. Due to rounding and the use of quarterly financial data, the summation of the quarterly data
presented below may not correspond to the annual information shown elsewhere in this annual report.




Condensed Consolidated Quarterly Data (unaudited, in thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31,
2005 2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004 2004

Quarterly Consolidated
Statement of
Operations Revenues.... $ 11,746 $ 11,337 § 9412 $§ 6957 $ 6,534 § 5735 % 5293 § 5,040

Cost of revenues.............. 2,031 2,046 1,692 1,007 928 849 787 751
Gross profit.......coceeevene.e. 9,715 9,291 7,720 5,950 5,606 4,886 4,506 4,289
Operating expenses......... 7,693 7,677 6,544 5,004 4,998 4,244 4,302 4,101
Operating profit .............. 2,022 1,614 1,176 946 608 642 204 188
Net income..........coovevnne 5,572 1,759 1,261 1,067 760 628 215 165

Net income (loss)

attributable to common

shareholders........ccue.nn.. 5,572 1,759 1,261 1,067 (629) — (255) (233)
Net incomz (loss) per

share attributable to

common shareholders:

Basic ...eovevreiiricn $§ 0318 0103 007 8% 007 % (00458 — § (0.06) $ (0.05)
Diluted ....cccooervvririnne $ 028% 009% 0073 006 $ (004)S — § (0.06) $ (0.05)
Weighted-average
number of shares used
in per share amounts:
Basic ..o 18,243 18,094 17,102 15,447 15,402 4,663 4,614 4,463
Diluted ....ccocvvninnnens 19,884 19,757 18,459 16,922 15,402 11,603 4,614 4,463

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December
31, 2005, the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief
financial officer concluded that material weaknesses, as discussed in subsection (b) below, existed in our internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005. As a result of these material weaknesses, our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective
as of December 31, 2005, at the reasonable assurance level.

Notwithstanding the material weaknesses described in subsection (b) below, management believes the

consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly present in all material respects
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.

41




(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
for the company. Internal control over financial reporting refers to the process designed by, or under the supervision
of, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, and effected by our board of directors, management and
other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
includes those policies and procedures that:

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of our assets;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorization of our management and directors; and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005,
In making this assessment, management used the framework set forth in the report entitled

Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Comimission.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a
remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected. In connection with management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2003, the following material weaknesses were identified:

1. We did not maintain a sufficient complement of personnel with an appropriate level of accounting
knowledge, experience and training in the selection and application of accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America commensurate with our financial reporting requirements.
Specifically, we lacked a sufficient number of personnel possessing adequate knowledge, experience and
training in the application of accounting principles to support our financial accounting and reporting
functions. This control deficiency contributed to the material weakness described in 2 below. Additionally,
this control deficiency could result in a misstatement of significant accounts and disclosures that would result
in a material misstatement to our interim or annual consolidated financial statements that would not be
prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a
material weakness.

2. We did not maintain effective controls over the selection, application and monitoring of our accounting
policies related to leasing transactions. Specifically, our controls over the selection, application and
monitoring of accounting policies related to lease, lease amendments and sub-lease transactions were
ineffective to ensure such transactions were accounted for accurately, completely and in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. This control deficiency resulted in
the restatement of our 2004 annual consolidated financial statements and the interim consolidated financial
statements for the quarters ended March 31, 2005 and June 30, 2005, as well as an audit adjustment to the
2005 annual consolidated financial statements. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a
misstatement of rent expense, rental income and sub-lease obligations that would result in a material
misstatement to our interim or annual consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or
detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material
weakness.




Management has excluded Avivo Corporation from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2005 because it was acquired by the company in a purchase business combination during 2005.
Avivo (now known as WebSideStory Search and Content Solutions, Inc.) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the
company, whose total assets and total revenues represent approximately 43%, including approximately 32% in
intangible assets resulting from the acquisition of Avivo, and 18%, respectively, of the related consolidated financial
statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Because of these material weaknesses, management has concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2005 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the COSO.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2005, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in their report which appears herein.

(c¢) Management’s Remediation Initiatives

We are in the process of remediating the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting
described above. We have taken the following actions to remediate the material weakness related to insufficient
staffing in our accounting and financial reporting functions:

¢ On February 3, 2006, we hired a new chief financial officer. Our new chief financial officer is a CPA with 17
years of experience as a financial professional. Our chief financial officer possesses knowledge in accounting
and the application of generally accepted accounting principles.

*  We have initiated a search for a qualified individual to support our financial accounting and reporting
functions. We have improved the documentation of our job descriptions within the financial accounting and
reporting functions; however, this area will be enhanced with the addition of a qualified accountant. We are
and have been actively recruiting for the accountant position for several months and will strive to fill the
position as soon as possible.

» Currently, existing staff is addressing our application of generally accepted accounting principles.
Additionally, we have engaged a financial consulting firm to assist in the accounting and financial reporting
functions as we continue to actively search for a permanent hire. As deemed necessary, we will leverage their
resources and expertise to help us maintain compliance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

We have taken the following actions to remediate the material weakness related to the recognition of leasing
transactions in accordance with related generally accepted accounting principles:

*  Wereviewed the terms of our leases and subleases, together with the applicable accounting literature relating
to lease accounting, to determine the proper accounting treatment for our headquarters lease and sub-lease
and to confirm the accounting treatment for our other leases.

¢ We changed our internal control over financial reporting to identify the procedures to follow for appropriate
lease and sub-lease accounting.

¢ We provided training to our accounting department personnel regarding correct lease and sub-lease
accounting procedures.

*  We expanded the procedures in our internal control over financial reporting related to periodic reviews of
non-routine transactions.

(d) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
PART 111
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The information required by this item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement, or Proxy Statement, to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2006 annual stockholders meeting,
which is expected to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, and
which is incorporated in this annual report by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this annual
report by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this annual
report by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this annual
report by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this annual
report by reference.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

1. Financial statements: The following financial statements of WebSideStory, Inc. and Report of independent
registered public accounting firm, are included in this report:

¢ Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm;
*  Consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
* Consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,

» Consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity (deficit) and comprehensive income (loss) for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003;

* Consolidated statements of cash flows for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003;
and

* Notes to consolidated financial statements.

2. List of financial statement schedules: All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required
information is shown in the financial statements or related notes.

3. List of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K: see subsection (b) below.
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(b) Exhibits:

Exhibit

le(mllbler Description

2.1(1) Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 8, 2005 by and among the Registrant, WSSI
Acquisition Company, Avivo Corporation and Charles M. Linehan, as the Holder Representative.

2.2(2) Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 1, 2006 by and among the Registrant, VS
Acquisition, LLC, Visual Sciences, LLC and Ned Scherer, as the Holder Representative.

3.1(3) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

3.2(3) Amended and Restated Bylaws.

4.1(3) Form of Common Stock Certificate.

4.2(2) Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated as of February 1, 2006 by and

among the Registrant and certain investors set forth therein.

4.3(3) + Warrant to Purchase Series D Convertible Preferred Stock dated April 1, 2003 by and between the
Registrant and Jeffrey W. Lunsford.

4.4 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated as of November 21, 2005 and issued by the Registrant in
favor of Starsoft Development Labs, Inc.
4.5(2) Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated as of February 1, 2006 and issued by the

Registrant in favor of the former holders of units of membership interest in Visual Sciences, LLC.
10.13) + Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.2(4) + 2004 Equity Incentive Award Plan and Form of Option Grant Agreement.
10.3(5) + Avivo Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and Form of Option Grant Agreement.

10.4(3) + Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of April 1, 2003 by and between the Registrant and
Jeffrey W. Lunsford.

10.5(3) + Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of July 21, 2004 by and between the
Registrant and Jeffrey W. Lunsford.

10.6(6) + Offer Letter dated as of January 26, 2006 by and between the Registrant and Claire Long.
10.7(3) + Offer Letter dated as of May 15, 2003 by and between the Registrant and Rand Schulman.

10.8 + Offer Letter dated as of November 21, 2005 by and between the Registrant and Andrew S.
Greenhalgh.

10.9(3) + Offer Letter dated as of February 12, 2003 by and between the Registrant and Christopher Reid.

10.10(3)+ Employment Agreement dated as of July 1, 2000 by and between WebSideStory Holding B.V. and
Daniel Guilloux.

10.11(3)+  Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of November 15, 2002 by and between
WebSideStory Holding B.V. and Daniel Guilloux.

10.12 + Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of February [, 2006 by and between Visual
Sciences, LLC and James W, Maclntyre, IV.

10.13 + Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of February 1, 2006 by and between Visual
Sciences, LLC and David R. Scherer.

10.14(3) + Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Registrant and the persons listed on Schedule

A therseto.

10.15(3) + Form of Change in Control Agreement between the Registrant and the persons listed on Schedule A
thereto.

10.16(6) +  Change in Control Agreement dated as of January 18, 2006 by and between the Registrant and Claire
Long.

10.17 Master Service Agreement dated as of August 10, 2005 by and between the Registrant and Level 3
Communications, LLC.

10.18 Addendum to Master Service Agreement dated as of September 22, 2005 by and between the

Registrant and Level 3 Communications, LLC.
10.19(3) Office Lease dated as of August 23, 1999 by and between the Registrant and LNR Seaview, Inc.
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" Exhibit

Number Description
10.20(3) First Amendment to Office Lease dated as of July 3, 2001 by and between the Registrant and LNR

10.2

Seaview, Inc.

1 Second Amendment to Office Lease dated as of December 7, 2005 by and between the Registrant and
Seaview PFG, LLC (as assignee of LNR Seaview, Inc.)

10.22(3) Sublease dated as of July 3, 2001 by and between the Registrant and RF Magic, Inc.

10.2

33) Amendment to Sublease dated as of September 10, 2003 by and between the Registrant and RF
Magic, Inc.

10.24(3) Sublease dated as of July 6, 2001 by and between the Registrant and Avexus, Inc.

10.2
10.2

10.2

10.2

5(3) Addendum to Sublease dated as of April 18, 2002 by and between the Registrant and Avexus, Inc.

6(3)+  Revised Master Service Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 by and among the Registrant, Buena
Vista Internet Group, ESPN Internet Ventures, ABCNews Internet Ventures, Infoseek Corporation,
ABC Multimedia, Inc. and Walt Disney Parks & Resorts Online.

7(3)+  Amendment to Revised Master Service Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004 by and among the
Registrant, Buena Vista Internet Group, ESPN Internet Ventures, ABCNews Internet Ventures,
Infoseek Corporation, ABC Multimedia, Inc. and Walt Disney Parks & Resorts Online.

8(3)t  Patent Cross-License Agreement dated December 12, 2003 by and between the Registrant and NetlQ
Corporation.

10.29(3) T  Salesforce.com JoinForces Product Alliance Program Agreement dated as of May 21, 2004 by and

between the Registrant and Salesforce.com, Inc.

10.30(2) Form of Senior Note dated as of February 1, 2006 and issued by the Registrant in favor of the former

211
23.1
31.1

31.2

32%

(1
@
&)
4
&)

(6)

holders of units of membership interest in Visual Sciences, LLC.

List of Subsidiaries.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 10, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 7, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of the Registrant (Registration No. 333-115916) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 27, 2004,

Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of the Registrant (Registration No. 333-119350) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-§ of the Registrant (Registration No. 333-124754) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10, 2005,

Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on January 24, 2006.

WebSideStory, Inc. has been granted confidential treatment with respect to certain portions of this exhibit (indicated by
asterisks), which have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

These certifications are being furnished solely to accompany this annual report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, and are
not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not to be incorporated by reference
into any filing of WebSideStory, Inc., whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation
language in such filing.




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WEBSIDESTORY, INC.

Dated: March 16, 2006 By: /s/ JEFFREY W. LUNSFORD
Jeffrey W. Lunsford
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ JEFFREY W, LUNSFORD President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman  March 16, 2006
Jeffrey W. Lunsford of the Board (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ CLAIRE LONG Chief Financial Officer March 16, 2006
Claire Long (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ ANIL ARORA Director March 16, 2006
Anil Arora
/s/ CHARLES J. FITZGERALD., JR. Director March 16, 2006

Charles J. Fitzgerald, Jr.

/s JAMES R. GLYNN Director March 16, 2006
James R. Glynn

/s/ WILLIAM H. HARRIS, JR. Director March 16, 2006
William H. Harris, Jr.

/s/ KURT R. JAGGERS Director March 16, 2006
Kurt R. Jaggers

/s/ JAMES S. MAHAN III Director March 16, 2006
James S. Mahan III
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REPORT OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of WebSideStory, Inc.:

We have completed an integrated audit of WebSideStory, Inc.’s 2005 consolidated financial statements and of its
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 and audits of its 2004 and 2003 consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of WebSideStory, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2005
and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principies used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, we have audited management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that WebSideStory, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 because (1) the Company did not maintain effective controls over
the financial reporting process due to an insufficient complement of personnel with a level of accounting knowledge,
experience and training in the application of generally accepted accounting principles commensurate with the
Company’s financial reporting requirements and (2) the Company did not maintain effective controls over the
selection, application and monitoring of its accounting policies related to leasing transactions based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a
remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s assessment as of
December 31, 2005:

1. The Company did not maintain a sufficient complement of personnel with an appropriate level of accounting
knowledge, experience and training in the selection and application of accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America commensurate with the Company’s financial reporting requirements.
Specifically, the Company lacked a sufficient number of personnel possessing adequate knowledge, experience
and training in the application of accounting principles to support its financial accounting and reporting
functions. This control deficiency contributed to the material weakness described in 2. below. Additionally, this
control deficiency could result in a misstatement of significant accounts and disclosures that would result in a
material misstatement to the Company’s interim or annual consolidated financial statements that would not be
prevented or detected. Accordingly, management determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material
weakness.

2. The Company did not maintain effective controls over the selection, application and monitoring of its
accounting policies related to leasing transactions. Specifically, the Company’s controls over the selection,
application and monitoring of accounting policies related to lease, lease amendments and sub-lease transactions
were ineffective to ensure that such transactions were accounted for accurately, completely and in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. This control deficiency resulted
in the restatement of the Company’s 2004 annual consolidated financial statements and the interim consolidated
financial statements for the quarters ended March 31, 2005 and June 30, 2005, as well as an audit adjustment to
the 2005 annual consolidated financial statements. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in a
misstatement of rent expense, rental income and sub-lease obligations that would result in a material
misstatement to the Company’s interim or annual consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented
or detected. Accordingly, management determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.

These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in
our audit of the 2005 consolidated financial statements, and our opinion regarding the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting does not affect our opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded
Avivo Corporation from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 because
it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2005. We have also excluded Avivo
from our audit of internal contro! over financial reporting. Avivo (now known as WebSideStory Search and Content
Solutions, Inc.) is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues represent approximately 43%,
including approximately 32% in intangible assets resulting from the acquisition of Avivo, and 18%, respectively, of
the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that WebSideStory, Inc. did not maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria
established in /nternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSQO. Also, in our opinion, because of the
effects of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria,
WebSideStory, Inc. has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Diego, California
March 16, 2006




WEBSIDESTORY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31, December 31,

2005 2004
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash qUIVAIENLS .......c.e.oveviiiiiciaees ettt bbb s $ 19,968 $ 5710
IV ESEIMIEIIES .. ouveeei it ee e ettt e e e s e e s et e e e aeses s setbeseserasesrnseseserrmnnesseenenesas 11,712 16,323
ACCOUNTS TECEIVADIE, TIET .ovviiiicire ettt et e e et e et s et ases e bbe e ennne 7,842 3,704
DeferTed taX ASSEES ..vovviuivreiiriciire ettt s b e et sreeveresberresbe st e ers st s assaaseereasesnes 507 37
Prepaid expenses and other Current assets ........c.ccvrreevnicciinneeneenei e eres 2,304 943
TOtAl CUITENT @SSELS ..evvviiiieerreeiitiie it ireeereessteeerreenresrbreebes et eestaeetressnreeessbeearenenres 42,333 26,717
Property and eqUIPIMENt, NEL.........ccecerririinererrese et sennere st sreenees 2,532 1,884
LTIVESHTIEIIES .o ie ittt bt sa e se st beaeeeesessaeessaessetesessansasersentneneenserereenees 3,276 8,676
GOOAWIIL ..ottt et bt e e aeabe et e stvesraaabssraesabeetbasarenes 21,286 —
INtangible aSSEtS, NEt.......vviovecereiis et s 6,901 —
DETEITEA 1AX ASSEES ..vvveiiiiiiitiieseeere e e ecte e ereres e st ee et e e sattresseaeresssttsseseneeesansteassenanenen 9,166 —
OHNET ASSELS ...eiveeiiticteeiee et e eete e st e eete et ee st et e ere s eabesast s eateesbesnesetbesintaesanesesaeenreas 2,249 341

§ 87.743 $ 37618

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities

ACCOUNES PAYADIE .....uiiiiiiiiitiiet ettt bbb $ 877 $ 307
ACCIUEA HADITIES oottt e ee ettt serre s s sttt s eessnrae seneeas 3,880 2,337
DEfErTEd FEVEINUE ...ooooviiiiiieiie ettt et et e e err e et e sttt e e vt raesanteesernsassnbens 12,801 6,364
Capital 18aS€ SHOTT tEITI .oovivireiiiiie sttt sttt e s ava e et e svesbesraanens 83 18
NOLE PAYADIE ..ottt s — 27

Total CUITENT LIADIIIES .uveeiveeiicerrie et et etee et eenrr e s srre s ee e s e sanre s e erreeeen 17,641 9,053
DEfOrTE TENT...ccuivviirtieti ettt sttt et srae b e ae e s ne s eseeaneenen e 108 115
Capital 1€ase I0NZ tEIM .eoccevviiiiire ettt e et e e seesne e 90 100
Other HADIIHES .o.vevieiiereeiir ettt sttt st arar et eneees e sresenaneeesan 88 205

TOtal HHADIIIES .eveueveeieeiiciiieiiet ettt sttt s st aeb e abe st et neebanesnens 17,927 9.473

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized and no shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004................ — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 75,000,000 shares authorized, 18,401,180 and
15,624,856 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005 and December

31, 2004, rESPECHIVELY 1oveririiireeereic ettt sttt et b et e sa et et erenanes 18 16
Additional paid in CAPILAL.......covcvrmriiriiirircct e s 114,934 82,895
Unearned stock-based cOmMPenSation .........ceoveeiiiereiinieinirenesinin e seeeresesennes (630) (779)
Accumulated other comprehensive iNCOmME ........ccccvciviieeninvmiinen e e evees 103 281
Accumulated defiCit.....coovivirieirirceiinieiree e e (44.609) (54.268)

Total stockholders’ EQUITY....ocvivereiiiierieririei e et e ra e srens 69.816 28.145

$ 87,743 § 37618

See accompanying notes.
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WEBSIDESTORY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Revenues
SUDSCIIPHONS ..eeeiieirre vt ettt et e se st et aasen e enaes 3 37,728 $ 22,476 $ 15,678
AAVEIHISIN .ottt 1,724 126 682
TOtal TEVENUES.....couiiiiiereeieeeeiienceie sttt ettt e 39.452 22,602 16,360
Cost of revenues
COSE OF TEVEINUE ....cevvii vttt esee st s eer e etressree s stbeesne e 6,516 3,300 3,206
Amortization of intangibles..........cccvvviiiiinieinieerniee e 202 — —
Stock-based COMPENSATION.........cvreirrririeeriririereerererrseireeseseenes 58 15 11
Total COSt Of TEVEMUES ...vvevriiiiericie e e 6.776 3315 3217
GIOSS PrOfit. ettt 32,676 19,287 13,143
Operating expenses
Sales and Marketing......ocovvevvre it 14,471 9713 7,258
Technology development.........c.occnveriiniriicrinererireenseseeesessareenns 4,621 3,755 3,398
General and adminiStrative .......ccceovieevririeii s ceres e 5,739 3,310 3,761
Amortization of intangibles.........coecviieiiinieneininicrnee e 1,147 — —
Stock-based compensation (*) 940 867 1.334
Total Operating eXpenSes........ccvvrviieveereieccieriereesssseeresesreesesnseens 26,918 17,645 15,751
Income from OPerations......cccovvveevirerveives e et e 5,758 1,642 (2,608)
INLETEST EXPEIISE weeevervirrerirererirereeerestestestbesseeseastesaesberrsesesssereasassassresns (34) (38) (46)
INEETESt IMCOMIE .vveveieiieierieriienierreieseeres st et srescerrrissretee e saaraeaestessaneens 905 205 56
Other (EXPENSE) INCOME ...cuvveuiriiecreeterereereeeerstrerreseestessresenessaeens _(43) 3 489
Total Other INCOME ....vuiieeririiireiirir ettt sveectbee e et anree e 828 172 499
Income (loss) before provision for incOme taxes........c.cceveververerannns 6,586 1,814 (2,109)
(Benefit from) provision for iNCOME taXes .....c.ccccuvinircineniennaseecenseen _ (3.073) 46 31
NEt INCOME (108S).vivriereriiiieiieiie ettt sttt st r s rseteenns $ 9,659 § 1,768 § (2,078)
Constructive dividend on redemption of redeemable preferred stock . — (1,389)
Accretion of discount on redeemable preferred stock ......coovvvvrennnnee. — (1,326) (1,566)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders.......ccoovveenneee. $ 9,659 § (947) $ (3.644)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common shareholders:
BASIC 1ottt e bbb $ 0.56 $ (0.13) $ (0.91)
DHIULEA ..ttt ettt e saee et es s eae e $ 051 $ (0.13) $ (0.91)
Weighted average number of shares used in per share amounts:
BaSIC 1ttt ieeei ettt r et ettt e a e saa et e eresaseenreeas 17,231,411 7,300,809 4,001,979
DAIE e e e e 18,774,978 7,300,809 4,001,979
(*) Stock-based compensation
Sales and Marketing .........ccovereveeereerariseieieensrse e erserssensns $ 183 § 209 § 330
Technology development...........coueveeieirrinicreree s 334 37 76
General and administrative ........ccevreevnrernieenienreeree e 423 621 928
b 940 $ 867 § 1,334

See accompanying notes.
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WEBSIDESTORY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the three years ended December 31, 2005
(in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Additional Unearned Other Stockholders® Comprehensive
Common Stock Paid-in Stock-based  Comprehensive  Accumulated (Deficit) / {Loss)/
Shares Amount Capital Compensation Income Deficit Equity Income

Balance at December 31, 2002 ... 3.807,118 § 4 3 15857 §$ 296y % 120 % (53,958) $ (38273) 8 (2,543)
Restricted stock purchases ..o T729,609 ] 1113 (1.1 — — 3 —
Exercise of $tock OPLONS ....cceevvveeviccricimniiinin 40,710 — 34 — — — 34 —
Unearned stock-based compensation .....c..ccoove — — 1,094 (1.094) — —_ — —
Amortization of stock-based compensation.......... — — — 1.344 — — 1.344 —
Accretion of discount on redecmable preferred

SLOCK vecnnisirriuereecti et abse e — — (1,537) — — — ) (1,537) —
Amortization of premium on Series A

convertible redeemable preferred stock ... — — 1.202 — — — 1.202 —
Accretion of discount on Series B and Series C

convertible redecmable preferred stock .............. — — {30) — — — (30) —
Foreign currency adjustment...........cocvemenri e, — — — - 156 -— 156 156
Net lo: . . — — — — — (2.078) (2.078) (2.078)
Balance at December 31, 2003 ... 4577437 % 5 8 17733 8 (1.157)  §° 276§ (56.036) $ (35,179 1,922
Issuance of common stock for cash net of $4.4

million i COSLS crvvveireimrccssnrisennasenconnnn 5000000 § 58 38082 § —-— % — 8 —_ $ 38,087 § —
Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred

SEOCK 11voerrenconesserans st 5634131 6 28.000 — — — 28,006 —
Exercise of stock options and warrants................. 413,288 — 439 — — - 439 —
Unearned stock-based compensation ..o — — 504 (504) — — -— —
Amortization of stock-based compensation.......... — — — 882 — — 882 —
Accretion of discount on redeemable preferred

stock . — — (1.305) — — — (1.305) —
Amortization of premium on Series A

convertible redeemable preferred stock .............. — — 852 - — — 852 —
Accretion of discount on Series B and Series C

convertible redeemable preferred stock ............. — — 1) — — — [02))] —
Constructive dividend on redemption of

redeemable preferred stock ..o — — (1,389) — —_ — (1,389) —
Foreign currency adjustment..........oovvevisiviinionenns — — — — 5 — 5 S
Net income..... . . - — — — — 1,768 1.768 1,768
Bal at b, ber 31, 2004 15,624,856 $ 16 8 82,895 § 779 § 281 § (54,26%) 3 28145 % 1,773
Exercise of Stock OPLOnNS ...ceeeemecerrirvnmvesssenrieenne 334713 § — 3 974 3 — 3 — 3 — $ 974 § —
Tax benefit from stock option exercise..........c.... — — 1,729 — — — 1,729 -
Warrant EXErcise. ... 74,639 — — — _ - — -
Stock issuance for acqUISItON.....coovvriveccccrirniinnes 2,366,972 2 29,138 — -— — 29,140 —_—
Warrant ISSUANCE e, iirmmeeemercrnremsenennremresies — —_ 77 — — — 77 —
Option assumption for acquisSition ... — — — (651) -— — (651) —
Maodification of option award ..c..covcmercccinnn — — 138 — — — 138 —
Unearned stock-based compensation.................... — —_ (17 17 — - -— -
Amortization of stock-based compensation.......... — — — 783 —— - 783 —
Foreign currency adjustment., — — — — n - Q2n 2D
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securitics.... — — — — (157) -~ (157) (157
NETINCOME (oot erin st e — - — — — 9,639 9.659 9.659
Balance at December 31, 2008 ... 18.401,180 § J8 8 114934  $ 630)  § 103§ (44,609) $ 69816 §$ 9.481

See accompanying notes,
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WEBSIDESTORY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities
Net INCOME (LOSS) ..euveeriviirieieririiretirieteve et eae st s ss s et as e s esne e nnesassens $ 9659 § 1,768 $ (2,078)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities

Depreciation and amortiZation ...........eecvevecieneneinneieiees e seesesereeeeseseessenns 2,660 1,009 1,210
Bad debt provisSion......cocieeierineniti et 112 28 274
Stock-based COMPENSAION ...c..eivireerieriiiieeri ettt s 998 882 1,345
Deferred INCOME tAXES ....vvereeeiiiieriieteri et rrie et et sttt reaessnontasaens (3,318) 64 (101)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisition:
ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE ....oveiieiiveriectieii ettt vt sba e srnens (3,633) (1,475) (576)
Prepaid expenses and other assets........ccvvveverieerierenrirsresrineninrenneesnnens (3,019) (717 (297)
Accounts payable and
acerued LIabIlTIES ..ovevivereeceii ettt s 1,323 829 464
DeTeITed TEVEIUE ..vioviveviieiiceie ettt st sttt rer e ereastaeeresensen 3,238 2,430 1,812
Deferred reNt......ccviiriee ettt et er et een (1% 29 85
Other HADIIIES cuvviiie ittt esiar s sr s saee st erressars (118) (144) 214
Net cash provided by operating activities .........vevrreecrcernecrrnnicnennnes 7.887 4.703 2,352
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of INVESIMENLS ...ccoviiiiinicirin e (15,276)  (34,156) —
Maturities Of INVESIMENES ....iviireriiiieiieeeereeirere e easceseresaesreseresevesssessseneessones 25,131 9,157 —
Purchase of property and eqUIPMent........ccoocevviniinreeernnierirseonerenesessnvenens (1,526) (1,438) (739)
Acquisition, net of cash aCqUITEd .........coccevvveerrerereece e srese st n e (2.684) — —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ......c.c.ccoververrennnns 5,645 (26.437) (739
Cash flows from financing activities
Exercise of stock options and Wartants...........c.cccvcrnererennennsssereienecconene 974 439 34
Payments on HNe 0f Credit ....covevvriceeinenieniieiccniesieine e — — 3
Payments on equipment term 10an.......ccccocoiviniinenieenerenre e e — — (679)
Payments on capital 1€aSe ........coviieirieieicricr e (62) 27 —_
Payments on note payable..... ..o {85) — —
Redemption of redeemable preferred stock ..ccvvvveennnvencicecnsneceenn — (16,750) —
Proceeds from sale of common StOCK ......ccccvcvevnniiiinc et — 38.087 —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities.........c.ccccorverennnan 827 21,749 (642)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash .......ccoevvveevccnicniincnienenceere 1oy 5 156
Net increase in cash and cash eqUIVAlENIs ....coecevrviernnnncrncee e 14,258 20 1,127
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period.......c.ccoveverveeienericerrerernnnenn 5,710 5.690 4.563
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ..........c.cccvvererenicreiiiecneniereseieneenee $ 19968 $§ 5710 $ _5.690
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash Paid fOr INLEIEST...c.irerereiereeiererieiree e sr e se et en et en et et e s rebereessensans $ — § 4 % 19
Cash Paid fOr tAXES......oveeirierieieeriecteerr et sttt st res e sesses e seesa e nes $ 77 S 22 3 —
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Equipment acquired under capital 1€aSe .........coeeviverrvercvirrernirinernassierrorennns $ — 8§ 126 $ —
Equipment acquired under note payable.........cooveveeiinnnonrecnrennineeeees $ — 3 27 % —

See accompanying notes.
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WEBSIDESTORY, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. The Company
Nature of Business

WebSideStory, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”) was founded and commenced operations in
September 1996 and is a provider of on-demand and in-house digital marketing and customer analysis solutions. The
Company’s services consist of web analytics, website search, web content management, call center analytics and
messaging analytics. The Company’s HBX web analytics application collects data from web browsers, processes
that data and delivers reports of online behavior to customers on demand. The Company’s website search and web
content management solutions allow users to better navigate their websites and enable the Company’s customers to
make changes to their websites. Customers use the Company’s services to better understand how Internet users
respond to website design and content, online marketing and e-commerce offerings and to manage the content of
their web pages and make them searchable. Customers also use the Company’s solutions to analyze and understand
customer interaction across multiple delivery channels. Delivery of HBX, site search and web content management
services occurs on demand over the Internet using secure, proprietary and scalable applications and system
architectures. This on-demand delivery model allows the Company to concurrently serve a large number of
customers and to efficiently distribute the workload across its networks of servers. These services are provided on a
subscription basis to customers for a fee, which is either fixed or based on the actual number of web sites and total
page views and transactions monitored by the Company’s services. Contracts for subscription services typically
range in duration from one to three years.

The Company’s business consists of a single reportable segment. The vast majority of the Company’s operations
are conducted in the United States. In order to pursue the sale of its products and services in international markets,
the Company established wholly owned subsidiaries in France (February 2000}, the Netherlands (August 2000) and
the United Kingdom (April 2003).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared using accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These principles require management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and
reported amounts of revenue and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and operating results of the
Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries WebSideStory Search and Content Solutions, Inc., HitBox, Inc.,
WebSideStory SAS, WebSideStory Holding B.V., WebSideStory Callcenter and Service B.V. and WebSideStory
UK Limited. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Foreign Currency

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries utilize their local currency as their functional currency. The accounts of
these foreign subsidiaries have been translated into U.S. dollars using the current exchange rate as of the balance
sheet date for assets and liabilities and the average exchange rate for the period for revenues and expenses.
Cumulative translation gains or losses are recorded as accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’

equity.




Concentration of Risk

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash
and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and trade accounts receivable. Although the Company deposits its
cash with multiple financial institutions, its deposits, at times, may exceed federally insured limits.

The revenue generated by the Company from The Walt Disney Internet Group accounted for 14% of total
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003. No customer individually accounted for more than 10% of total
revenues in 2005 or 2004.

There were no customers that individually accounted for more than 10% of total accounts receivable as of
December 31, 2005 or 2004.

The Company’s servers related to its services and its customer data are located at two, third-party co-location
facilities: one in San Diego, California, operated by Level 3 Communications, LLC and one in San Jose, California
operated by Equinix, Inc. The Company does not control the operation of these facilities, and such facilities are
vulnerable to damage or interruption in the event that one or more of such third-party co-location facilities fail.

Geographical Information

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, assets located outside the United States were 8% and 10% of total assets,
respectively. Revenues generated by subsidiaries outside the United States for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, were 14%, 16% and 11%, respectively, of total revenues. Revenues generated by subsidiary
geographical region are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003
UNIEEA SEAIES .oeeviiiteicii ettt e e etecer et eebe s e st b e et s e besreesanesenssnsesseaneersesssensensenes $ 33,831 § 18,983 § 14,585
FUTOPE ...nteietie ettt ettt sttt et vt st e et ettt e es e e e e st n ke e b s r e e e neeaes 5,621 3,619 1,775

$ 39452 3 22602 3 16.360

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104, Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements, and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-21, Accounting For
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.

Revenue is recognized when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive evidence of an
arrangemernt; (2) the service has been provided to the customer (in the case of subscription services, revenue
recognition commences when the customer has been given access to the service); (3) the amount of fees to be paid
by the customer is fixed or determinable; and (4) the collection of the fees is probable.

Subscription revenues are recognized over the term of the related service periods. Support revenues are included
in subscription revenues, and are recognized over the term of the related contract as these services are considered to
be inseparable from the subscription service. The Company warrants certain levels of uptime reliability and permits
its customers to receive credits or terminate their agreements in the event that the Company fails to meet those
levels. The Company has rarely provided any such credits or termination rights. Subscription revenues that are
invoiced and paid in advance of delivery of the service are recorded as deferred revenue.

Advertising revenue is recognized based on actual delivery of advertisements over the period in which the
related advertisements are displayed.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash

and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of money market funds. The carrying amounts
approximate fair value due to the short maturities of these instruments.
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Investments

Management determines the appropriate classification of marketable securities at the time of purchase and re-
evaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. Short term investments are classified as available for sale.
The Company defines short term investments as income yielding securities that can readily be converted to cash.
These securities are carried at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported as accumulated other
comprehensive income. Declines in the fair value of these securities judged to be other than temporary, if any, are
included in interest expense. Interest and dividends on available for sale securities are included in interest income.
Although the Company did not have any securities classified as held to maturity as of December 31, 2005, as of
December 31, 2004, the Company had securities classified as held to maturity consisting primarily of U.S. federal
agency notes, certificates of deposit, auction rate preferred securities and mortgage backed securities. Held to
maturity investments are carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair value.

The Company regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its investments to assess for other than
temporary declines in value. Management believes no such declines in value exist at December 31, 2005.

Accounts Receivable

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived from a large number of direct customers. Collateral is not
required for accounts receivable. The Company maintains an allowance for potential credit losses as considered
necessary. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the allowance for potential credit losses was $365,000 and $407,000,
respectively. The Company performs ongoing reviews of all customers that have breached their payment terms or
for whom information has become available indicating a risk of non-recoverability. The Company records an
allowance for bad debts for specific customers identified as well as an allowance based on its historical collection
experience. The Company’s evaluation of the allowance for potential credit losses requires the use of estimates and
the actual results may differ from these estimates.

Deferred Commissions

Deferred commissions are the incremental direct cost of sales commissions paid to the Company’s direct sales
force. The timing of commission payments varies but typically 50% of the commissions are paid 30 days after
access to the services are provided, The balance of the commissions is generally paid in 12 monthly installments.
The deferred commission amounts are recoverable through the future revenue streams under non-cancelable
customer contracts; therefore, the commissions are deferred and amortized over the non-cancelable terms of the
related customer contracts. Deferred commissions are included in prepaid and other assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Amortization of deferred commissions is included in sales and marketing expense in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Deferred commissions as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 were $1.3 million and $459,000, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of those assets as follows:

Computers, equipment and software ........... 3 years

Furniture and fiXtUres .......coerervvrroreeensinnn 5 years

Leasehold improvements.........ccvvveecnernne, Shorter of the estimated useful life of 7 years or the remaining lease
term

Upon the retirement or disposition of property and equipment, the related cost and accumulated depreciation or
amortization are removed and the gain or loss is recorded.

Repair and maintenance costs are expensed in the period incurred.




Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142 requires that
goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives be tested for impairment at least
annually. SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives be amortized over their
respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually, in the second
quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if events and circumstances warrant.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144. The Company assesses potential
impairment to its long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of
the long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not
recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of a
long-lived asset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and a
charge to operating resuits.

Software and Website Development Costs

The Company capitalizes qualifying software and website development costs, which are incurred during the
application development stage, and amortizes them over their estimated useful lives, which are generally two to
three years. The Company capitalized $1.2 million, $185,000 and $105,000 during the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Capitalized software and website development costs are included in other assets
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization expense, recorded as technology development
expense, totaled $154,000, $58,000, and $23,000 during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from
transactions and other events, including foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on
available for sale investments. The Company presents comprehensive income (loss) in its consolidated statements of
stockholders’ equity.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures compensation expense for its employee and director stock-based compensation plans
using the infrinsic value method and provides pro forma disclosures of net income (loss) as if a fair value method
had been applied in measuring compensation expense. Accordingly, compensation expense for stock options is
measured as the excess, if any, of the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant over the
amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. Stock-based compensation is amortized over the related service
periods using an accelerated graded method in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation
No. 28 (“FIN 28”), Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plan.
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Had compensation expense for employee stock options been determined based on the fair value of the options on
the date of grant, the Company’s net income (loss) would have been as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders — as reported ................. $ 9,659 $ (947) $ (3,644)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation as reported in the statements of
OPETALIONS ... eevvieerererirteeuretrerererseesr e aenteatsesterabesssassesssan reesbanssestsesaasssaesssensesnne 600 882 1,345
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under the fair value based method for all awards............ccococevecvnreniricerinnne (2.452) __(1.127) _ (1,359
Pro forma net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders......c...cocvvevrnann. $ 7807 $ (1.192) $_(3.658)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders
DASIC — S TEPOTLEA. ..cvevevieitcrreiieteteier bttt s taceete et sr e s b e saeaeesseras § 056 % (0.13) § (0.9
diluted — a5 rePOTTEA ...uviviii vttt ettt $ 051 % (0.13) § (09D
DASIC — PIo FOIMA ..ovivivieiviet ettt s § 045 S5 (0.16) § (091
diluted — Pro fOTMA.....cvvvieiieiirceics ettt ettt $ 042 $ (0.16) § (0.91)

The use of an option valuation model includes highly subjective assumptions based on long-term predictions,
including the expected stock price volatility and average life of each option grant. The Company’s employee options
have characteristics significantly different from those of freely traded options, and changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the Company’s estimate of the fair value of those options. The Company
completed its initial public offering in 2004 and has a relatively short history to determine expected volatility based
on historical performance of its traded common stock. As a private company the Company used 0% volatility. The
fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes method with the following
assumptions:

Year Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003
RiISK-frEE IIIETEST TATE....veeivviirieerieirrieeie it e s st ete s cabeeseneesbes st s s saaesebeeesbeesssbeessseens 370% 295% 1.90%
EXPected VOIATIIEY c..ooviie vttt sre ettt ettt et eree e st sabe s srean 52.39% 31.86%  0.00%
EXpected [ife (IN YEATS)..evvrvrtirerreerere ittt sttt s eneens 33 3.9 33
DIVIAENA YIELA .oveneieieieiecerie et et b et v e et s sre b s 0.00%  0.00%  0.00%

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Weighted average
shares exclude shares of common stock subject to lapsing repurchase rights by the Company. Diluted earnings (loss)
per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period increased to include dilutive potential common
shares that were outstanding during the period. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options is reflected in diluted
earnings per share calculated using the treasury stock method. The Company has excluded all convertible
redeemable preferred stock, outstanding stock options and unvested common stock subject to repurchase from the
calculation of diluted loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 because such securities are
antidilutive for these periods. No exclusions were necessary in 2005 as the Company was profitable. The total
number of potential common shares excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 are detailed in the following table:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003
Potential common shares excluded from diluted loss per share:
Unvested COMIMON STOCK .. .ivviiriiiintieeit i e etieecereeteeeteseresserrsesraessaresssesaaeseoressassesaneas 285,200 307,227
Convertible redeemable preferred StOCK ....ooovvivieiicoriic e 4,225,598 5,634,131
OPLIONS AN WATTANES «..cevverisveeeiesseseeeerecetr e e reee s saresers st st esesstesasesanassasssresessaen 1,084,220 490,783

TOTAL ettt n e ettt et e e e e s et st e e et eanessaneon 5,595,018 6,432,141




The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2008 2004 2003
Numerator:
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders..........cco.o..e. $ 9.659 § 947) $ (3.644)
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding ..........ccoceevevervreenrennne. 17,231,411 _ 7.300.809 4,001,979
Denominator of basic calculation .......c.coecviviinieieoec e, 17,231,411 7,300,809 4,001,979
Effect of dilutive securities:
Weighted average stock options, warrants and restricted common
SEOCK - eteiiricrieeie st e ettt s e s re e e e e st e ee e s e e e b et e etresaneneaesraes 1,543,567 — —
Denominator of diluted calculation..........c.ccoouvevvrenvencnenenieniencnnns 18.774.978 7,300,809 4,001.979
Net income (loss) per share:
BSIC 1ot itriiiiiitrieirint s et s e e et re et e e et see st et saent ek saes e e sa s es et seasaasans h) 056 $ 0.13) § (0.91)
DHIULEA oot e § 051 $ (0.13) $ (0.91)

The amount of accretion related to the amortization of the discount on the redeemable preferred stock was $0,
$1,326,000 and $1,566,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The amount of the
unamortized discount on the redeemable preferred stock on October 1, 2004 (the redemption date) was recorded as a
dividend in arriving at net loss attributable to common stockholders in the amount of $1,389,000.

Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes utilizing the liability method. Under the liability method, current
income tax expense or benefit is the amount of income taxes expected to be payable or refundable for the current
year. A deferred income tax asset or liability is computed for the expected future impact of differences between the
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and for the expected future tax benefit to be derived from
tax credit and loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of
management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In
2005, the Company released its valuation allowance resulting in a net tax benefit of approximately $3.1 million and
the recognition of approximately $3.3 million in deferred tax assets, before the valuation allowance. Tax rate
changes are reflected in the computation of the income tax provision during the period such changes are enacted. In
connection with the Company’s initial public offering, the Company triggered a change in control resulting in
annual limitations on the amount of the historical net operating losses that can be utilized to offset future taxable
income.

Warranties and Indemnification

The Company warrants certain levels of uptime reliability and permits its customers to receive credits or
terminate their agreements in the event that the Company fails to meet those levels. The Company has rarely
provided any such credits or termination rights.

The Company’s subscription agreements generally require the Company to indemnify its customers for third
party intellectual property infringement claims.

The Company has also agreed to indemnify its directors and executive officers for costs associated with any fees,
expenses, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by any of those persons in any action or proceeding to
which any of those persons is, or is threatened to be, made a party by reason of the person’s service as a director or
officer, including any action by the Company, arising out of that person’s services as a director or officer or that
person’s services provided to any other company or enterprise at the Company’s request.

Advertising Expenses
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004

and 2003 totaled $280,000, $268,000 and $5,000, respectively, and are included in sales and marketing expense.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment. This statement is a revision of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25 (“APB No. 25™), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements
based on their fair values. Such stock option expensing will require the Company to change its accounting policy.
For all periods prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based awards to employees in accordance
with APB No. 25. Under this accounting policy, the Company recorded stock-based compensation based on the
difference between the exercise price of the stock option and the fair market value at the time of grant. To arrive at
the fair value for each option grant, SFAS No. 123R requires the use of an option pricing mode! to evaluate the
Company’s stock by factoring in additional variables such as expected life of the option, risk-free interest rate,
expected volatility of the stock and expected dividend yield. Subsequently, in May 2003, the Securities and
Exchange Commission approved a rule delaying the effective date of SFAS No. 123R to the annual period
beginning after June 15, 2005. On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123R. As a result, stock-based
compensation expense is expected to increase and the unearned stock-based compensation expense balance will be
reflected as a component of additional paid in capital. The Company is continuing to finalize its evaluation of the
impact that the adoption of this rule will have on the results of operations and expects that it will result in a material
increase in compensation expense.

3. Composition of Certain Balance Sheet Captions
Investments

Short-term and long term investments consist of the following (in thousands):

Short-term Long-term
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2005 2004 2005 2004
Investments
Held to maturity Certificates of deposit................. $ — $ 3,014 $— 3 1,244
Mortgage backed securities.........ocverrenenererennee — — — 5,527
Federal agencies.....ccooviieenreeiieinincnnccnencenes — — — 1,905
— 3,014 — 8,676
Available for sale

Certificates of deposit........ccocvreriireeeeinneiennenns 3,418 — 755 —
Mortgage backed SECUTTtIES........ocvverrrerrireneenne, 3,983 — 2,521 —
Federal agencies..........covevvireveccnncininenienenen, 4,311 — —
Auction rate SeCUrities ........ocoovvevveveeriinnereenenn 13,309 — —
11,712 13,309 3,276 —

$§ 11712 $ 16,323 $ 3276 $_8.676

The Company’s available for sale securities are recorded at fair value and the unrealized loss is recorded as a
component of other comprehensive income (loss). During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company had to restate its
financial results and missed the filing deadline for its quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September
30, 2005. As a result of missing the filing date, the Company terminated a planned capital raising transaction. These
occurrences resulted in the Company no longer having the ability to hold certain investments to maturity at
December 31, 2005.

As such, all held to maturity investments as of December 31, 2005 were transferred to the classification of available
for sale and the unrealized loss on those investments was recorded as a component of other comprehensive incorme
(loss). The net unrealized loss was $157,000 as of December 31, 2005. The Company’s held to maturity securities in
2004 are recorded at amortized cost as the Company had the intent and ability to hold these securities to maturity.
The fair value of these securities as of December 31, 2004 was $3,006,000 and $8,612,000 for the short-term and
long-term investments, respectively.




The Company’s policy is not to enter into any investments with maturities longer than 2 years.
Accounts Receivable

The following table sets forth the components of accounts receivable (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2005 2004
Accounts receivable
Trade aCCOUNTS TECEIVADIC ......evviviieeieciirecreieicve et vt ereeaesssrssseresesesenesssnsan sssanas $ 8,207 $ 4,111
Allowance Tor doubtful ACCOUNTS ...vviiiiiiiciicii ettt eanens (365) (407)
$ 7.842 $ 3.704

The following table sets forth the activity within the allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Beginning balance ... $ 407 $ 553 $ 597
Bad debt provision........cuiiieiiierescenreneeeneese e 112 28 274
WITEE OFFS .veiiiiii ettt ettt v e et s e s er e seesenae s (207) (192) (325)
Wt Off TECOVETIES ...oiiiii ittt r et ceneeetaecasnesraen e 53 18 7
ENding BalanCe .....cc..ovvvvirirrerivereenninnsesenneiosssesesssessesesssasssessiones § 365 $ 407 $ 553

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

The following table sets forth the components of prepaid expenses and other current assets (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2005 2004
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
DEferred COMIMISSIONS .vvicviiirieeriiieveiesrreietecreitesre st eseseseeeseessessbesrbessbeseresarestnnsnsenes $ 1,314 $ 459
Other Prepaid EXPENSES.....civviieeerreeernirerirereeesreeeasaeiesraeessesaeesssasssescrnssnesssessessoneses 990 484

§ 2,304 $ 943

Property and equipment

The following table sets forth the components of property and equipment (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2005 2004
Property and equipment, net

Computers and office equipment.......ccococrrrininc e § 57252 S 7,777
Furniture and fIXTUTES ....coovviiiiirieicic vt sre e eabe st erbe s 1,025 1,042
Leasehold iMPrOVEMENTS ......cc.ocvvrreeiriiiririe et enebe e 369 466
6,646 9,285

Accumulated depreciation and amortization ........cccovecevieveierneesienierisieneneenereenenns (4.114) _(7.40D

$ 2532 $ 1.884

Total depreciation expense was $1.2 million, $929,000 and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. In 2005, the Company disposed of $5.8 million in assets that were fully depreciated
and no longer in use.

The Company leases certain computer and office equipment under capital leases. As of December 31, 2005 and

2004, $121,000 and $253,000 of such equipment is included in property and equipment, respectively. Accumulated
amortization relating to this equipment totaled $26,000 and $134,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table sets forth the components of intangible assets, net (in thousands):

December 31, 2005
Gross

carrying Accumulated
amount amortization Net
Intangible assets, net
CUSTOIMET CONETACES 111veeversreeersresirresrenserseieesrrnssenssssessessassersessessessessassessenenessnssen $ 7,340 § (1,147) $ 6,193
Acquired complete teCHNOlOZY .vivvvvvireererenirieiirenre e s seersaenee e st srenseseee s 910 (202) 708

$ 8250 § (1.349) §$ 6.901

The customer relationships and acquired complete technology have amortization periods of approximately five
years and three years, respectively. The values assigned to the intangible assets were, in large part, based on the
values assigned by a valuation specialist using a discounted cash flow model. The customer relationships are
amortized based on the pattern in which the economic benefit is consumed and the acquired complete technology is
amortized on a straight-line basis, which approximates that pattern.

Total amortization expense was $1.3 million in 2005 and $0 in each of 2004 and 2003. Future amortization
expense in 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 and thereafter is expected to be $2.2 million, $1.9 million, $1.2
million, $812,000 and $737,000, respectively, excluding any incremental expense that could result if we
consummate future acquisitions.

Goodwill of $21.3 million was recorded as a result of the acquisition of Avivo in May 2005 (see Note 5).
Other Assets

Other assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2005 2004
Other assets
Capitalized internal-use software development costs, net of accumulated
amortization of $239 and $81, reSPeCtiVElY ..cvuveverreniiereernree e $ 1,280 $ 210
Restricted cash held in €SCIOW.....coivirriinnisinnierns i ssesenns 807 —
Long term deposits and other NONCUITENt ASSELS ....coveeervrieiierrrrensrerrrreerieeeoreesnaanas 162 131
$ 2249 $ 341
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
The following table sets forth the components of accrued liabilities (in thousands):
December 31, December 31,
2003 2004
Accrued liabilities
Accrued bonuses and COMIMISSIONS. .....oveviiioiiesiieeiirecereresreseesnessssssesse sersssnseasens $ 1,579 $ 917
Accrued payroll and vacation.........ocuiniiinii 1,017 501
Accrued accounting and {egal SEIVICES «..o.evvrerrirerireerrnrerer e sereeereeeesesisierees 487 190
Accrued sublease Habilify ......covcoeiirvciiniinrinienr et 240 144
ACCIURA SALES TAX 1erveeeerenireiererieereeeta st iesee st e ser e e e enreshtereseesaaesaeenee s segeneneseaans 111 262
Other acCrued EXPEIISES ..vvvvevireeerinenmiiniieri s shss s rebs s 446 323

$ 3.880 § 2.337

4. Warrants

In November 2005, the Company issued a warrant to a consulting group to purchase 10,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock with an exercise price of $17.84. The warrant is exercisable, in whole or in part during
the term commencing on September 5, 2007 and ending on September 5, 2010. The Company measured total
unearned stock-based compensation of $77,000 representing the fair value of the Warrant as of the date of grant.
That amount is included as stock based compensation in the results of operations for the year ended December 31,
2005.




The Company had the following common stock warrants outstanding and exercisable:

As of December 31, 2005

Number of Shares Expiration Date Exercise Price
202,358 January 2013 $ —
As of December 31, 2004
Number of Shares Expiration Date Exercise Price
126,474 January 2013 5 —
2,857 March 2005 37.80
66,240 February 2006 2.27
34,504 April 2006 $ 5.11
230,075

Stock-based compensation expense related to all outstanding warrants during the years ended December 31,
2003, 2004 and 2003 was $212,000, $255,000 and $298,000, respectively.

Additionally, as discussed in Note 10, as part of the merger with Visual Sciences in February 2006, the Company
issued warrants to purchase 1,082,923 shares of the Company’s common stock to the former holders of units of
membership interest in Visual Sciences. These warrants expire on August 1, 2007 and have an exercise price of
$18.4685 per share.

S. Acquisition

On May 4, 2005, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated February 8, 2005 (the “Merger
Agreement”), the Company acquired Avivo Corporation (“Avivo™). Avivo is a provider of on-demand website
search and content solutions. The acquisition of Avivo provides the Company opportunities to sell its services to
Avivo’s existing customers, increase the size of the market for the Company’s offerings, and expand the Company’s

total product mix.

Inclusive of the amounts held in escrow (discussed below), the Company paid approximately $4,199,000 in cash,
and issued 2,958,713 shares of common stock and options to purchase 164,434 shares of common stock in exchange
for the outstanding capital stock and options of Avivo. Avivo’s shareholders also have the right to receive an eam-
out payment, not to exceed $4.1 million, contingent on achievement of certain revenue objectives by Avivo in the
15-month period following the closing. Because the earn-out payment is contingent on the achievement of specific
revenue targets, it will be accounted for as additional purchase price if, and when, it is earned.

In accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement and the Escrow Agreement entered into by the Company
on May 4, 2005 (the “Escrow Agreement”), approximately $807,000 of the approximate $4,199,000 total cash
consideration and approximately 592,000 of the 2,958,713 shares of common stock (together, the “Escrow
Amount”) are being held in escrow to secure indemnification obligations of Avivo and possible adjustments to the
purchase price conditioned on shortfalls in certain defined revenue goals for Avivo for a period of 15 months from
the May 4, 2005 closing. Purchase price adjustments based on revenue shortfalls cannot exceed $6.5 million of the
Escrow Amount. At the termination of the 15-month period, up to approximately one-fourth of the original Escrow
Amount will be held back for an additional nine months to secure certain indemnification obligations of Avivo. The
payment of the Escrow Amount to the shareholders of Avivo is contingent on the outcome of events that cannot be
determined at this time. Any part of the Escrow Amount paid to the selling shareholders of Avivo will be accounted
for as additiorial purchase price if, and when, such part of the Escrow Amount is no longer subject to the
indemnification obligations under the Escrow Agreement.

The Company calculated an aggregate purchase price of approximately $33,024,000 including approximately
$3,392,000 in cash, $27,731,000 in common stock and $1,409,000 in options issued to Avivo shareholders as well
as transaction expenses of $492,000. The $27,731,000 assumed value of common stock is calculated based on
approximately 2,367,000 shares of WebSideStory common stock and the average closing price of the common stock
from the period two days before to two days after the public announcement of the Merger Agreement. The
2,367,000 shares of WebSideStory common stock is the balance remaining after the total share consideration of
2,958,714 is reduced by approximately 592,000 shares held back as part of the Escrow Amount.




The purchase price has been allocated as follows (in thousands):

_May4,2005

CASH coceieeeeeeeeeee et er ey e et et ta b e eta e bear s bt et s eRe kb ettt s ertebe b0 e st enbart e teabe rasabeares $ 1,200
ACCOUNLS TECEIVADIE .. ..ottt ettt et as bbbt esresbe e seae e s 943
Property and eqUIPIMENt........oeiiiiiiicii e e b 290
DIETEITEA LAX BSSEES . ecvriitiiiireeie ettt e i eseer i str e sre st aestasearessrbeseabeesbbasabses sanessseestaesbseseraransasrerenasseessres 4,625
INEANZIDIE ASSEES. .. iereuierirtiietette etk ert et v e e etestasb e sseere b et et s asesaeebe st e ke e b et s antebteag e et bant et baater s e eeaesean 8,250
GOOAWILL. vt et et re s tesat e ebe s b e e abeebee e e ebeeabe e anesatbesbaeseseseeetsesbantsasbasebesebensaensses 21,286
ORET BSSEES..euviiiiteie ettt et sttt ettt e r et e bt et e be et btk e satob ek e bt se e st ket e ke n e nh e Rt en e reben 230
Accounts payable and accrued labilities........cecoveirinionicci e (905)
Deferred TEVENUES. ..ot et et s (3,428)
Oher HADIITIES ...veiiirieiee ettt ettt et e stn st s et re s earaconinnces (118)
Deferred stock-based COMPENSAION ...c..cververeverirriersieitain e b s 651

Purchase price, Including transaction COSES.....c.uiuiiiiiriiirirerereertrr s et e e e sa e sees e ss st saansasnnas $ 33.024

The acquisition of Avivo closed on May 4, 2005. Therefore, the results of operations for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2005 includes the results of operations of Avivo beginning May 4, 2605. The following table
summarizes pro forma operating results for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 as if the Company had
completed the acquisition on January 1, 2004 (in thousands, except per share data):

Twelve months ended

December 31, December 31,
2005 2004
PrO fOIMNA TEVEIIUES ...ueeeviie e eciesteae et svecrvreeare e eresebssetseertreeatesssbseabeesbbesanssesnbasseesssos $ 42,821 $ 28,957
Pro forma net income (108S)............... SR OO OO RSPV TO VPR PUTRRTOPOROT 9,466 (2,141)
Pro forma earnings (10ss) per share ~— basiC .....c.ccovrivieriniviieriiene e 0.48 (0.22)
Pro forma earnings (loss) per share — diluted .....c.ooccovivieveiiineeee e $ 045 $ (0.22)

This information has been prepared for comparative purposes only and does not purport to be indicative of the
results of operations which actually would have resulted had the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2004, nor is it
indicative of future financial results.

6. Stock Option Plans

The Company adopted the 2004 Equity Incentive Award Plan (“2004 Plan”) effective on September 28, 2004.
The 2004 Plan authorized the Company to initially issue up to 2,100,000 shares of common stock. Commencing on
January 1, 2005 and on each January 1 thereafter during the initial ten-year term of the 2004 Plan, the number of
shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to awards granted under the 2004 Plan is automatically
increased by that number of shares equal to the lesser of (1) four percent of the outstanding shares of common stock
on such date, (2) 1,000,000 shares or (3) a lesser amount determined by the Company’s board of directors.

The 2004 Plan replaced the Company’s 2000 equity incentive plan (“2000 Plan”) but all awards outstanding
under the 2000 Plan as of the effective date of the 2004 Plan remained outstanding and exercisable pursuant to the
terms of the 2000 Plan and the terms of such individual grants, but no additional awards will be granted under the
2000 Plan. On September 28, 2004, the Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-8 to register with the
Securities and Exchange Commission 1,149,999 shares of common stock for the options outstanding under the 2000
Plan and 4,100,000 shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2004 Plan (this number includes
2,000,000 shares of common stock that were estimated to become issuable over the following two years pursuant to
the evergreen provision in the 2004 Plan, as described above). The 2004 Plan provides for awards consisting of
stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, performance awards, dividend equivalents, stock payments,
restricted stock units and other stock related benefits, or any combination thereof.

In the event of a change of control, as defined in the 2004 Plan and 2000 Plan (collectively the “Plans”) where
the acquirer does not assume or replace awards granted under the Plans, such awards that are held by participants
whose employment or service with the Company has not terminated will be subject to accelerated vesting such that
100% of such awards will become vested and exercisable or payable, as applicable.




Vesting provisions and other terms and conditions are determined by the compensation committee at the time of
grant. Options granted under the Plans generally vest over four years. Options generally expire ten years from the
date of grant. The Company recorded total unearned stock-based compensation of $826,000 for the period ended
December 31, 2005, which consisted of $175,000 based on the intrinsic value at the time of the grants combined
with $651,000 related to the options granted to the former owners of Avivo accounted for using the estimated fair
value as required by SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations. Unearned stock-based compensation is being
amortized cver the vesting term using an accelerated graded method in accordance with FIN 28. Amortization of
stock-based compensation expense under the Plans of $543,000, $360,000 and $320,000 was recorded during the
years ended December 31 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

With the acquisition of Avivo in May 2005, the Company assumed all of the options then outstanding under the
Avivo 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Avivo Plan”), which then became exercisable for approximately 164,000
shares of the Company’s common stock in accordance with the then applicable vesting terms. The options will
continue to vest under the terms of the Avivo Plan. These options generally vest over five years and expire ten years
from the grant date. The Company does not intend to grant any more options under the Avivo Plan as all grants
subsequent to the May 4, 2005 acquisition will be issued under the Company’s Plans. All information below
includes the options assumed by the Company under the Avivo Plan.

Stock option transactions under all plans are summarized as follows:

Weighted-

Average

Options Exercise

Qutstanding Prices

Balance at December 31, 2002 .....oooiviiieiei ettt ettt et st st st entesa s s e enesnne e 1,064,591 $ 2.73
(61711 (=10 NPT USROS URUUURUPTIIN 362,771 0.84
EXEICISEA 1 .eveirieieiiiereeieriert ettt ettt sttt ettt e st ettt ot et sees e eneemt e eeeaneneenean (40,710) 0.84
FOITRUEA. ... vttt ettt b e sa e te et veesa s e e et e s ta s e et e aatensesnbaneassease (297,208) 3.32
Balance at December 31, 2003 ... ..ot e s et ee et e e enas reestbeeaas 1,089,444 2.00
GIANTEA ...ivviieiecieive ettt et ee e be e be b e eareeabeeebaerbesbaesssess st s s essessaesetssebaeentsenensas 1,053,321 7.54
EXEICISEA ovinvviiieiiecie ettt ettt sttt e e e e e e e s st e sar e anesae e et e et nre b eraaesanerans (406,862) 1.04
FOITRITEA. .. ievieierieicicct ettt ettt et s sttt b aa st enbeba b e st santaasese ssbansssasanes (99.241) 4.88
Balance at December 31, 2004 ...t e siraeessaee e sseaae s s eneasssaras s ertneressatnaeanes 1,636,662 5.62
GITANLEA ..ot ccrr s se e e e e s e e rae e s e tnaee et reaessseessasantes saseneeassbeneaansanaaessssananes 1,644,598 11.65
EXEICISEA ..ottt et sa e ettt et e b et e st e en e e ar et eatesne (334,713) 2.92
FOITEItEA. ...ttt ettt et et et st st e as e enteraeseseteesteesbeeebeesbesabesensaernearenes (131.951) 9.31
Balance at December 31, 2005 ..ottt a e e sreeeas 2,814,596 9.29
Options exercisable at December 31, 2005 .....ooiiiiie et 552,363 4.68
Options exercisable at December 31, 2004 ..o 405,795 3.31
Options exercisable at December 31, 2003 ..o 614,314 2.71

The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of options granted for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Weighted-average fair value:

Options granted below fair VAIUE ....c.coevviriieseerer et $ 840 $ 192 $ 1.40

Options granted above fair value ... 4.72 0.21 —

Options equal to fair VAIUE......c.cvi i e 5.14 4.37 —
Weighted-average exercise price:

Options granted at or below fair value.........ccccociiiiiiiiininn e 11.64 7.59 0.84

Options granted above fair valle ........coeoviiriiiiiniciiciccr 12.02 6.74 —
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The following table summarizes information about all options outstanding at December 31, 2005:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Range of Number Remaining Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Prices Qutstanding _ __ Life (Years) Price Exercisable Price
$0.84—3$0.84 317,342 6.8 § 084 210,129 $ 0.84
1.16 —4.90 157,285 8.4 295 116,508 3.38
525—35.25 309,752 82 5.25 101,642 5.25
8.00 — 8.00 35,263 8.7 8.00 5,278 8.00
8.50 —8.50 390,714 8.7 8.50 32,811 8.50
8.68 — 11.00 178,925 8.3 10.27 49,434 9.77
11.04 — 11.04 419,000 9.3 11.04 — —
11.05—1145 76,450 9.3 11.28 551 11.45
11.53 —11.53 447,465 9.0 11.53 — —
$11.58 —$30.80 482,400 9.1 15.97 36,010 18.08

During the period between January 1, 2003 and December 31, 2005, the Company granted stock options and
restricted stock awards with exercise prices as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Weighted Average
Number Average Average Fair Intrinsic
of Shares  Exercise Value Per Value Per
Grants Made During Quarter Ended Granted Price Share Share
March 31, 2003 ... ettt e 57,142 § 0.84 $ 118 $ 034
June 30, 2003....ooiie i s et 800,527 0.24 1.47 1.23
September 30, 2003 ......ooii e e 224,142 0.25 2.38 2.13
December 31, 2003 ... e 10,569 0.84 3.84 3.00
March 31, 2004 ..ottt et 262,926 5.16 5.55 0.39
JUne 30, 2004 .. .o st en 181,421 5.51 7.98 247
September 30, 2004 ... .o e e 451,143 8.49 R.45 —
December 31, 2004 ... ... i nre e 157,831 11.13 11.13 —
March 31, 2005 ...t et 540,114 11.52 11.58 0.06
JUNE 30, 2005 ..ot e seae st 789,684 9.50 11.22 1.72
September 30, 2005 .cc.coviiniii e 184,750 16.27 16.46 0.19
December 31, 2005, ... e sre e 130,050 18.64 18.64 —

The intrinsic value per share, which is the difference between the fair value per share and the exercise price, is
being recognized as compensation expense over the applicable vesting period. The fair value of common stock was
determined on a retrospective basis for all grants prior to the Company’s initial public offering on October 1, 2004.

7. Qualified Retirement Plan

The Company maintains an employee savings plan that qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under the savings plan, participating employees may contribute a portion of
their pre-tax earnings, up to the Internal Revenue Service annual contribution limit. Additionally, the Company may
elect to make matching contributions into the savings plan at its sole discretion. Beginning in 2005 the Company
initiated a 50% match of up to 4% of the employee’s contributions. Subsequent to year-end, that amount was
increased to a 50% match of up to 5% of the employee’s contributions effective January 1, 2006. Total 401(k) match
cost to the Company was $185,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases its office facilities and office equipment under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements
that expire on various dates through January 2013 and, with respect to the office leases, contain certain renewal
options. Rent expense under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements is accounted for on a straight-line basis
and totaled $1.3 million, $871,000 and $1.0 million during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Rent expense for the
year ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was net of sublease income of $768,000, $744,000 and $720,000,
respectively.




From time to time, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business.

The Company investigates these claims as they arise. See Note 10 for a discussion of certain litigation that was filed
in February 2006.

Future minimum lease payments and sublease income under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements are as
follows at December 31, 2005 (in thousands):

Gross Sublease Net
Payments Income Payments

Year ending December 31,

2006 $ 1,591 $ 725 § 866
2007 1,807 61 1,746
2008 1,839 —_ 1,839
2009 1,891 — 1,891
2010+ 6.110 6.110

§ 13238 $ 786 § 12.452

9. Income Taxes

The components of the (benefit from) provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2004 2003

Current

FOUETAL ...ttt eecer e e st e s et e e eas s e s entan et sem e saeneansenssebeesabessaaseesanntan $ 64 $25 § —

AL ..uiie e ettt ter sttt e ree ettt et e e e et e se e tue e e e ntaeaentbaa e eertbesesnettesstbtreseraresesanertrenares 56 2 2

FOT@IGI .. ettt sttt st r e b b s s s e b s n s raeaseans 204 21 68

324 48 70

Deferred

Federal .......ooooiiiee ettt ettt et et an et eaaes (2,997) — —

STALE ...ttt e et r e et e aneranane (438) — —

FOT@IZN .. eeviieiieiiiiierettresieerere e et esas e e e sasses b be st ssteansesbesesasaesarssstassrsessanessintennsses 38 (2) (101)

(3.397) (2) _(101)
$ (3073) $46 § (31

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following (in thousands):

2005 2004 2003
Deferred tax assets
Accrued bonuses and VACALION .......ccvveevevueeirierieinesierestenseseesssssesessesasseesesessesens $ 250 $ 9% §$ 159
Allowance for doubtful acCOUNIS ..ovvvvrveiicrece e 95 108 211
Stock-based compensation related to nonstatutory stock options............cucu..e.. 1,111 925 594
Capitalized legal, net of aMOItiZation .........cccvverivnieeciniiiree e — — 26
Depreciation and amortization..........ccccoveerereireeveccineneeerenerneeneeseeeseronesessenees 308 152 433
Federal net operating loss carryforward .........occccvevnnnnnnnnciceeccnnissnnnenns 10,078 4,336 4,759
State net operating 10ss carryforward ..........coeeevevecninnininn e 1,030 341 432
ONET 1.ttt ere e s e e ess s e et e st s e st er e be st aba s e s sbeabe st assasesaeatons 75 239 158

12,947 6,197 6,772
Deferred tax liabilities
Other identified iINtANGIDIES .......ovvivirieciecre s et ereens (2,764) —

Capitalized software and website development COSES .......coueveiererenrenvercnenne (510) (83) (42)
(3,274) 6,114 6,730
Valuation aAllOWANCE .......cvvvviivieiiriciereccericc e etectere st sre e ssaensssresesresrsesneseas — (6.077) __ (6.629)

$ 9673 § 37 § 101

At December 31, 2005, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $30.1
million and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $18.0 million, which are available to offset
future taxable income. The federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2020. The state net
operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2006.
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In 2005, net deferred tax assets, before valuation allowance, increased approximately $3.3 million primarily due
to the recognition of approximately $4.6 million of net deferred tax assets in connection with the acquisition of
Avivo during May 2005. Avivo’s net deferred tax assets primarily represent net operating loss carryforwards that
will be limited in use on an annual basis pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 382 (“Section 382”). The
Company’s net deferred tax assets also consist of accumulated net operating losses which are also subject to Section
382 as a result of prior ownership changes. The combined deferred tax assets represent the amounts expected to be
realized before expiration.

The Company periodically assesses the likelihood that it will be able to recover its deferred tax assets. The
Company considers all available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income,
expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible profits.
As a result of this analysis of all available evidence, both positive and negative, the Company concluded that it is
more-likely-than-not that its net deferred tax assets will ultimately be recovered and, accordingly, the Company
released its valuation allowance in the year ended December 31, 2005.

A reconciliation of the income tax (benefit) expense computed using the U.S. federal statutory tax rate (34%)
and the Company’s provision for income taxes follows (in thousands):

2005 2004 2003
Computed expected federal tax EXPENSE......cvvvevevrierercrinrneenieresreeresesnsessesesnecenan $ 2,208 § 611 § (666)
State taxes, net of federal benefit.........oviceiin i e et 391 139 15
Stock-based cOmMPENSALION EXPEISE. ....coverereeiiririeerrireierireereeseetest et esseereeneseseneseene (13) (30) 23
ANernative MINIIMIUIM 12X ....ovviiieeeeeieisieereeresessresaesseesresssssseesresssastesssesssesnsesssessassseesees — 11 —
T oottt s e s as s v e s n e s s e s s s ar s s s s et e nnen e 215 58 3
Valuation @lIOWANCE .........eovveiiiiiiiriirti e ctesst e e s et e scre st e tsesteesessssessseesessreesssesess (5,874) __(743) 594

$ 30738 46 § (3D
10. Subsequent Events
Acquisition

On February 1, 2006, the Company, VS Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a direct,
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub™), Visual Sciences, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Visual Sciences”), and Ned Scherer, as the Member Representative (the “Member Representative”),
entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), pursuant to which Visual Sciences
merged with and into Merger Sub (the “Merger”) on February 1, 2006. As a result of the Merger and pursuant to the
terms of the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub changed its name to Visual Sciences, LLC and the Visual Sciences’
business is now operated as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Surviving Company™).

Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, in exchange for all outstanding units of membership interest (the
“Units”) and options to purchase Units of Visual Sciences, the Company has agreed to issue 568,512 shares of
common stock (the “Escrowed Common Stock™), warrants to purchase 1,082,923 shares of the Company’s common
stock (the “Warrants”), which expire on August 1, 2007 and have an exercise price of $18.4685 per share, and senior
notes in an aggregate principal amount of $20,000,000 (the “Senior Notes™), and to pay $22,000,000 in cash. The
total value of the consideration payable to the former holders of interest in Visual Sciences is approximately $57.3
million based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the trading day prior to the closing of the
transaction. The Company has also granted, pursuant to its existing equity incentive plan, 189,507 shares of
restricted common stock to certain employees of Visual Sciences, which vest on January 30, 2007. In addition, the
Company granted non-qualified stock options to purchase 350,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to
certain Visual Sciences employees after the closing of the Merger (the “Closing™) at fair market value on the date of
grant, which vest over four years following the Closing as follows: 25% of the options vest on the first anniversary
of the date of grant and the remaining 75% of the options vest in 36 equal monthly installments over the following
three years.




In accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement and the Escrow Agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”)
entered into by and among the Company, the Member Representative and U.S. Stock Transfer Corporation, as
Depository Agent, the Escrowed Common Stock will be held in escrow until April 1, 2007 to satisfy possible
indemnification claims made by the Company against Visual Sciences. In addition, in the event that Visual Sciences
does not have at least $2,000,000 of cash and cash equivalents on hand as of the Closing, then the Company may
seek recourse against the Escrowed Common Stock for any such deficiency.

The Senior Notes mature on August 1, 2007. The Senior Notes accrue interest at a rate of 4% per annum payable
at maturity or on certain earlier repayment or prepayment dates. The Senior Notes are subject to mandatory
repayment, on demand, at any time after April 1, 2007 or upon certain underwritten public offerings of the
Company’s common stock and must be repaid if the Company incurs indebtedness that ranks senior or pari passu
with the priority of payment attributable to the indebtedness represented by the Senior Notes, subject to certain
exceptions for permitted indebtedness under the Senior Notes. The Company has the right to prepay the Senior
Notes at any time without premium or penalty.

Litigation

On February 3, 2006, NetRatings, Inc., an internet media and market research company, filed a lawsuit against
the Company in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The suit alleges willful
infringement of United States Patent Nos. 5,675,510, 6,108,637, 6,115,680, 6,138,155, 6,763,386. In the complaint,
NetRatings seeks a preliminary and permanent injunction, unspecified monetary damages (compensatory and
enhanced), and recovery of its attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company’s answer to the complaint is due on March
24, 2006. Although there can be no assurance that an unfavorable outcome in this matter would not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s operating results, liquidity or financial position, the Company believes the claims
made by NetRatings are without merit and intends to vigorously defend the action. No trial date is currently set for
this case.

On February 22, 2006, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of California charging NetRatings with willful infringement of United States Patent No. 6,393,479. The
complaint seeks a permanent injunction against continued infringement as well as unspecified monetary damages
{compensatory and enhanced) and recovery of the Company’s attorneys’ fees and costs. Given the nature of patent
litigation, at the present time the Company is unable to quantify the amount of remuneration it will ultimately seek
in this proceeding or the likelihood of recovering any portion of such remuneration once quantified. NetRatings’
answer to the Company’s complaint is due on April 14, 2006. No trial date is currently set for this case.
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Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 8, 2005 by and among the Registrant, WSSI
Acquisition Company, Avivo Corporation and Charles M. Linehan, as the Holder Representative.

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 1, 2006 by and among the Registrant, VS
Acquisition, LLC, Visual Sciences, LLC and Ned Scherer, as the Holder Representative.
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

Amended and Restated Bylaws.

Form of Common Stock Certificate.

Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated as of February 1, 2006 by and
among the Registrant and certain investors set forth therein.

Warrant to Purchase Series D Convertible Preferred Stock dated April 1, 2003 by and between the
Registrant and Jeffrey W. Lunsford.
Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated as of November 21, 2005 and issued by the Registrant in
favor of Starsoft Development Labs, Inc.
Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated as of February 1, 2006 and issued by the
Registrant in favor of the former holders of units of membership interest in Visual Sciences, LLC.
Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan.

2004 Equity Incentive Award Plan and Form of Option Grant Agreement.

Avivo Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and Form of Option Grant Agreement.

Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of April 1, 2003 by and between the Registrant and
Jeffrey W. Lunsford.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of July 21, 2004 by and between the
Registrant and Jeffrey W. Lunsford.

Offer Letter dated as of January 26, 2006 by and between the Registrant and Claire Long.

Offer Letter dated as of May 15, 2003 by and between the Registrant and Rand Schulman.

Offer Letter dated as of November 21, 20035 by and between the Registrant and Andrew S.
Greenhalgh.

Offer Letter dated as of February 12, 2003 by and between the Registrant and Christopher Reid.
Employment Agreement dated as of July 1, 2000 by and between WebSideStory Holding B.V. and
Daniel Guilloux.

Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of November 15, 2002 by and between
WebSideStory Holding B.V. and Daniel Guilloux.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of February 1, 2006 by and between
Visual Sciences, LLC and James W. MacIntyre, IV.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of February 1, 2006 by and between
Visual Sciences, LLC and David R. Scherer.

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Registrant and the persons listed on
Schedule A thereto.

Form of Change in Control Agreement between the Registrant and the persons listed on Schedule A
thereto.

Change in Control Agreement dated as of January 18, 2006 by and between the Registrant and
Claire Long.

Master Service Agreement dated as of August 10, 2005 by and between the Registrant and Level 3
Communications, LLC.

Addendum to Master Service Agreement dated as of September 22, 2005 by and between the
Registrant and Level 3 Communications, LLC.

Office Lease dated as of August 23, 1999 by and between the Registrant and LNR Seaview, Inc.
First Amendment to Office Lease dated as of July 3, 2001 by and between the Registrant and LNR
Seaview, Inc.
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10.21 Second Amendment to Office Lease dated as of December 7, 2005 by and between the Registrant
and Seaview PFG, LLC (as assignee of LNR Seaview, Inc.)

10.22(3) Sublease dated as of July 3, 2001 by and between the Registrant and RF Magic, Inc.

10.23(3) Amendment to Sublease dated as of September 10, 2003 by and between the Registrant and RF
Magic, Inc.

10.24(3) Sublease dated as of July 6, 2001 by and between the Registrant and Avexus, Inc.

10.25(3) Addendum to Sublease dated as of April 18, 2002 by and between the Registrant and Avexus, Inc.

10.26(3) ¥  Revised Master Service Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 by and among the Registrant,
Buena Vista Internet Group, ESPN Internet Ventures, ABCNews Internet Ventures, Infoseek
Corporation, ABC Multimedia, Inc. and Walt Disney Parks & Resorts Online.

10.27(3) T  Amendment to Revised Master Service Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004 by and among the
Registrant, Buena Vista Internet Group, ESPN Internet Ventures, ABCNews Internet Ventures,
Infoseek Corporation, ABC Multimedia, Inc. and Walt Disney Parks & Resorts Online.

10.28(3) +  Patent Cross-License Agreement dated December 12, 2003 by and between the Registrant and
NetlQ Corporation.

10.29(3) ¥  Salesforce.com JoinForces Product Alliance Program Agreement dated as of May 21, 2004 by and
between the Registrant and Salesforce.com, Inc.

10.30(2) Form of Senior Note dated as of February 1, 2006 and issued by the Registrant in favor of the
former holders of units of membership interest in Visual Sciences, LLC.

21.1 List of Subsidiaries.

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant t6 Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

32% Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section

1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(1) Incorperated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 10, 2005.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 7, 2006.

{3) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of the Registrant (Registration No. 333-
115916) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 27, 2004,

(4) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of the Registrant (Registration No. 333-
119350) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2004.

(5) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-8 of the Registrant (Registration No. 333-
124754) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10, 2005.

(6) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Registrant filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on January 24, 2006.

+ WebSideStory, Inc. has been granted confidential treatment with respect to certain portions of this exhibit
(indicated by asterisks), which have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

* These certifications are being furnished solely to accompany this annual report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, ard are not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and are not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of WebSideStory, Inc., whether made before or after the date hereof,
regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jeffrey W. Lunsford, certify that:

1.
2,

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WebSideStory, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
teport;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disciosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

ate: March 16, 2006

By: /s/ JEFFREY W. LUNSFORD

Jeffrey W. Lunsford
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Claire Long, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WebSideStory, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on suc

evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2006

By: /s/ CLAIRE LONG

Claire Long
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of WebSideStory, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2005 as
filed with the Securitics and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I, Jeffrey W. Lunsford, President, Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the Board of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. That information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 16, 2006

/s/ JEFFREY W. LUNSFORD

Jeffrey W. Lunsford
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board

In connection with the Annual Report of WebSideStory, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2005 as
iled with the Securitics and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Claire Long, Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
ertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. That information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

rate: March 16, 2006

/s/ CLAIRE LONG

Claire Long
Chief Financial Officer
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